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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries 
 

The notes on pages 17 to 78 are an integral part of these financial statements. (9) 
 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss  
 
   For the year ended 31 December 
   2019  2018 
 Note  AED’000  AED’000 
      
Sale of goods and services    1,476,113  1,428,951 
Rental income    912,286  926,654 
Contract revenue    190,043  305,186 
Sale of properties    40,140  89,596 
Gain on fair valuation of investment properties - net 12  134,414  101,897 
Gain/(loss) on fair valuation of investments  13  67,090  (153,306) 
Gain on sale of investment properties    14,656  17 
Gain on sale of investments   7,185  18,266 
Share of loss from equity accounted investees 15(iii)  (58,580)  (29,152) 
Dividend income    32,842  25,069 
Gain on fair valuation of existing interest prior  

  to acquisition of controlling stake 40(b) 
 

11,506  228,916 
Bargain purchase gain  40(b)  52,324  104,263 
Total income   2,880,019  3,046,357 
      
Cost of sales 6  (1,730,583)  (1,911,907) 
Administrative and general expenses  7  (414,548)  (454,395) 
Impairment of investment in equity accounted investee’ 15(iii)                          -  (27,990) 
Finance costs  8  (279,385)  (142,055) 
Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets 44  (14,460)  (31,843) 
Finance income  8  49,205  47,468 
Other income 9  43,202  44,564 
Profit for the year   533,450  570,199 
      
Profit attributable to:      
Owners of the Company    657,419  651,431 
Non-controlling interests    (123,969)  (81,232) 
Profit for the year   533,450  570,199 
      
Earnings per share      
Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 34  0.15  0.15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
 
   For the year ended 31 December 
   2019  2018 
 Note  AED’000  AED’000 
      
Profit for the year   533,450  570,199 
Other comprehensive income ('OCI'):      
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss      
Net change in fair value of investments at fair value     

through OCI - refer note 13 (c)  
 

(23)  (48,205) 
Total other comprehensive income for the year   (23)  (48,205) 
Total comprehensive income for the year   533,427  521,994 
      
Attributable to:      
Owners of the Company    657,396  606,766 
Non-controlling interests    (123,969)  (84,772) 
Total comprehensive income for the year   533,427  521,994 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
 
   As at 31 December 
   2019  2018 
 Note  AED’000  AED’000 
      
ASSETS      
Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment 10  3,752,083  3,427,431 
Right-of-use-assets 25  269,651  - 
Goodwill and intangible assets 11  520,430  325,040 
Investment properties 12  8,705,078  8,292,108 
Investment at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 13(i) 
 

120,653  133,586 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 14  59,848  - 
Investment in equity accounted investees'  15  129,436  246,754 
Rent receivable 16  46,195  43,958 
Finance lease receivable 17  858  1,577 
Inventories 18  269,784  353,059 
Trade receivables 19  29,644  67,870 
Due from related parties and other receivables  20  31,542  46,107 
   13,935,202  12,937,490 
      
Current assets      
Inventories 18  2,670,642  2,452,791 
Investment at fair value through profit or loss 13(ii)  1,440,242  1,429,227 
Trade receivables 19  1,404,792  1,137,483 
Due from related parties and other receivables  20  657,089  664,714 
Short-term deposits with banks 21  90,924  134,423 
Cash and cash equivalents 21  758,314  798,069 
   7,022,003  6,616,707 
Total assets   20,957,205  19,554,197 
      
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      
EQUITY      
Share capital  27  4,252,018  4,252,018 
Share premium  27  46  46 
Capital reserve 28  25,502  25,502 
Legal reserve 29  1,176,846  1,078,710 
General reserve 29  1,435,654  1,345,510 
Revaluation reserve 30  -  22,000 
Fair value reserve 31  (144,170)  (153,281) 
Proposed dividend 32  425,202  425,202 
Proposed directors’ fee 33  10,500  10,500 
Retained earnings   4,794,534  4,909,632 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company   11,976,132  11,915,839 
Non-controlling interests 39  229,973  369,466 
Total equity   12,206,105  12,285,305 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
  ---------------------------Equity attributable to owners of the Company----------------------------------------- 

 
Share 

capital  
Share 

premium  
Capital 
reserve  

Legal 
reserve  

General 
reserve  

Revaluation 
reserve  

Fair value 
reserve  

Proposed 
dividend  

Proposed 
directors’ 

fee  
Retained 
earnings  Sub-total  

Non- 
controlling 

interests  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
                          
Balance at 1 January 2018-as originally 
reported 4,252,018  46  25,502  1,041,198  1,310,213  22,000  (259,489)  510,242  12,250  4,936,167  11,850,147  478,503  12,328,650 
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (21,475)  (21,475)  (9,319)  (30,794) 
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 
15  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,893  2,893  -  2,893 
Adjusted balance as at 1 January 2018 4,252,018  46  25,502  1,041,198  1,310,213  22,000  (259,489)  510,242  12,250  4,917,585  11,831,565  469,184  12,300,749 
Total comprehensive income for the 
year 
Profit for the year -  -  -  -  -  -   -  -  - 651,431  651,431  (81,232)  570,199 
Other comprehensive income                          
Fair value reserve transferred to retained 

earnings on disposal of investments -  -  -  -  -  -  150,873   - -  (150,873)  -  -  - 
Net change in fair value of investments at 

fair value through OCI -  -  -  -  -  -  (44,665)  -  -  -  (44,665)  (3,540)  (48,205) 
Total other comprehensive income for the 

year -  -  -  -  -  -  106,208  -  -  (150,873)  (44,665)  (3,540)  (48,205) 
Total comprehensive income for the 
year -  -  -  -  -  -  106,208  -  -  500,558  606,766  (84,772)  521,994 
Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity                          
Contributions by and distributions to 
owners                          
Dividend paid -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (510,242)  -  -  (510,242)  -  (510,242) 
Proposed dividend (refer note 32) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  425,202  -  (425,202)  -  -  - 
Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (85,040)  -  (425,202)  (510,242)  -  (510,242) 
Changes in ownership interests                          
On disposal of a subsidiary -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (20,870)  (20,870) 
Introduction of share capital in a subsidiary -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,514  1,514 
On acquisition by a subsidiary -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  4,311  4,311 
Total changes in ownership interests in 

subsidiaries -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (15,045)  (15,045) 
Total transactions with owners -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (85,040)  -  (425,202)  (510,242)  (15,045)  (525,287) 
Other movements                          
Transfer to reserves -  -  -  37,512  35,297  -  -  -  -  (72,809)  -  99  99 
Directors’ fees paid -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (12,250)  -  (12,250)  -  (12,250) 
Proposed directors’ fee (refer note 33) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  10,500  (10,500)  -  -  - 
Total other movements -  -  -  37,512  35,297  -  -  -  (1,750)  (83,309)  (12,250)  99  (12,151) 
Balance at 31 December 2018 4,252,018  46  25,502  1,078,710  1,345,510  22,000  (153,281)  425,202  10,500  4,909,632  11,915,839  369,466  12,285,305 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued) 
 

 ---------------------------Equity attributable to owners of the Company----------------------------------------- 

 
Share 

capital  
Share 

premium  
Capital 
reserve  

Legal 
reserve  

General 
reserve  

Revaluation 
reserve  

Fair value 
reserve  

Proposed 
dividend  

Proposed 
directors’ 

fee  
Retained 
earnings  Sub-total  

Non- 
controlling 

interests  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
                          
Balance at 1 January 2019 – as originally reported 4,252,018  46  25,502  1,078,710  1,345,510  22,000  (153,281)  425,202  10,500  4,909,632  11,915,839  369,466  12,285,305 
Impact of change in accounting policy related to 

capitalization of borrowing costs (note 3) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (154,432)  (154,432)  (12,406)  (166,838) 
Impact of change in accounting policy related to land 

(note 3) -  -  -  -  -  (22,000)  -  -  -  22,000  -  -  - 
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 16 (note 3) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (3,678)  (3,678)  -  (3,678) 
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019 4,252,018  46  25,502  1,078,710  1,345,510  -  (153,281)  425,202  10,500  4,773,522  11,757,729  357,060  12,114,789 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
Profit for the year -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  657,419  657,419  (123,969)  533,450 
Other comprehensive income                          
Fair value reserve transferred to retained earnings on 

disposal of investments -  -  -  -  -  -  9,134  -  -  (9,134)  -  -  - 
Net change in fair value of investments at fair value 

through OCI -  -  -  -  -  -  (23)  -  -  -  (23)  -  (23) 
Total other comprehensive income for the year -  -  -  -  -  -  9,111  -  -  (9,134)  (23)  -  (23) 
Total comprehensive income for the year -  -  -  -  -  -  9,111  -  -  648,285  657,396  (123,969)  533,427 
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in 

equity                          
Contributions by and distributions to owners                          
Dividend paid -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (425,202)  -  -  (425,202)  -  (425,202) 
Dividend paid by subsidiaries -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,840)  (1,840) 
Proposed dividend (refer note 32) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  425,202  -  (425,202)  -  -  - 
Total contributions by and distributions to owners               -    (425,202)  (425,202)  (1,840)  (427,042) 
Changes in ownership interests                          
Reduction of share capital in a subsidiary -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,644)  (1,644) 
On acquisition of non-controlling interests(refer note 

40 (c)) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (3,291)  (3,291)  366  (2,925) 
Total changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (3,291)  (3,291)  (1,278)  (4,569) 
Total transactions with owners -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (3,291)  (428,493)  (3,118)  (431,611) 
Other movements                          
Transfer to reserves -  -  -  98,136  90,144  -  -  -  -  (188,280)  -  -  - 
Directors’ fees paid -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (10,500)  -  (10,500)  -  (10,500) 
Proposed directors’ fee (refer note 33) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  10,500  (10,500)  -  -  - 
Total other movements -  -  -  98,136  90,144  -  -  -  -  (198,780)  (10,500)  -  (10,500) 
Balance at 31 December 2019 4,252,018  46  25,502  1,176,846  1,435,654  -  (144,170)  425,202  10,500  4,794,534  11,976,132  229,973  12,206,105 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows  
 
  For the year ended 31 December 
  2019  2018 
  AED’000  AED’000 
Cash flows from operating activities     
Profit for the year  533,450  570,199 
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation  219,107  166,621 
Amortization of intangible assets  18,331  7,291 
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  -  86 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (2,162)  (44) 
Gain on sale of investments   (7,185)  (18,266) 
Gain on fair valuation of investment properties-net  (134,414)  (101,897) 
Gain on sale of investment properties  (14,656)  (17) 
Share of loss from equity accounted investees                 58,580  29,152 
Impairment of investment in equity accounted investee  -  27,990 
(Gain)/loss on fair valuation of investments  (67,090)  153,306 
Provision for write down of inventories to net realizable value  10,400  73,290 
Gain on fair valuation of existing interest prior to acquisition of 

controlling stake 
 

(11,506)  (228,916) 
Bargain purchase gain  (52,324)  (104,263) 
Interest income  (49,205)  (45,991) 
Interest expense/profit on sukuk notes                269,855  135,745 
Operating profit before changes in working capital  771,181  664,286 
     
Changes in:     
Investments at fair value through profit or loss and OCI                76,170  17,534 
Trade receivables, due from related parties and other receivables  (231,803)  (57,385) 
Inventories  (287,165)  (498,536) 
Trade and other payables                       226,158  229,373 
Directors’ fee paid  (10,500)  (12,250) 
Net cash from operating activities               544,041  343,022 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Consideration paid for acquisition of controlling/ non-

controlling interests- net of cash acquired (refer note 40(b)) 
 

(115,467)  (405,426) 
Consideration paid for acquisition of non-controlling interest  (2,925)  - 
Proceeds from sale of investment properties  52,198  4,332 
Additions to investment properties  (316,098)  (291,320) 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (444,318)  (323,439) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  2,434  605 
Net investments in equity accounted investees’  (35,905)  (72,565) 
Net additions to intangible assets  (254)  (219) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (860,335)  (1,088,032) 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued) 
 
 For the year ended 31 December 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from bank borrowings and payables                             3,438,378  2,002,393 
Repayment of bank borrowings and payables (1,463,100)  (645,356) 
Repayment of sukuk notes (1,101,600)   
Principal elements of lease payments (49,274)  - 
Net movement in non-controlling interests (3,484)  (22,895) 
Dividend paid (425,202)  (510,242) 
Net movement in short term deposits               43,499  (50,716) 
Interest income received               49,205  45,991 
Interest expense/profit on sukuk notes paid (269,855)  (135,745) 
Net cash from financing activities              218,567  683,430 
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (97,727)  (61,580) 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January             343,018  404,598 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December              245,291  343,018 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:    
Cash in hand, current and call account with banks – refer  

note 21 545,673  582,893 
Short term deposits with banks (excluding those under lien) – 
refer note 21 212,641  215,176 
Bank overdraft, trust receipt loans and bills discounted – refer 
note 24 (513,023)  (455,051) 
 245,291  343,018 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2019 
 

(17) 

1 Reporting entity 
 
Dubai Investments PJSC (“the Company”) was incorporated in the United Arab Emirates by Ministerial 
Resolution No. 46 of 1995, on 16 July 1995. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2019 comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as “the Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates and joint arrangements. 
 
The Group is primarily involved in development of real estate for sale and leasing, contracting activities, 
manufacturing and trading of products in various sectors, district cooling, investment banking, asset 
management, financial investments, healthcare and education. 
 
At 31 December 2019 the Company had approximately 16,482 shareholders (2018: 16,751 
shareholders).  
 
The registered address of the Company is P.O. Box 28171, Dubai, UAE. 
 
2 Basis of preparation 
 
2.1 Statement of compliance 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRS IC”) and the requirements of UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015. 
 
2.2 Basis of measurement 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the 
following which are measured at fair value: 
 
- investment properties; 
- investments at fair value through other comprehensive income; 
- other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 
- investments and other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; and 
- derivative financial instruments 
 
2.3 Functional and presentation currency 
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirate Dirham (“AED”), which 
is the Company’s functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless 
otherwise indicated. 
 
2.4 Use of judgments and estimates 
 
In  preparing these consolidated financial statements,  management  has made judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of Group's accounting  policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
2.4 Use of judgments and estimates (continued) 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 
recognized prospectively. 
 
Information about judgments in applying accounting policies, assumptions and estimation uncertainties 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements 
is included in note 42. 
 
2.5 Measurement of fair values 
 
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair values, 
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
 
The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This 
includes a management team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value 
measurements, including Level 3 fair values. The management team regularly reviews significant 
unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. 
 
If third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then 
the management team assesses the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion 
that such valuations meet the requirements of IFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in 
which such valuations should be classified. 
 
Significant valuation issues are reported to the Audit Committee. 
 
When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as 
possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs 
used in valuation techniques as follows: 
 
• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 
• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs) 
 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be categorized in different levels 
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same 
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 
 
The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting 
period during which the change has occurred. 
 
Further information about the significant assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the 
following notes: 
 
• Note 12 – Investment properties;  
• Note 13 – Financial investments; and 
• Note 11 – Goodwill and intangible assets 
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3 Changes in significant accounting policies 
 

From 1 January 2019, the Group has adopted the following new International Financial Reporting 
Standard: 
 
IFRS 16 – Leases 
 
The Group has adopted IFRS 16 – Leases ("IFRS 16") from its mandatory adoption date of 1 January 
2019. IFRS 16 introduced a single, on-balance sheet model for lessees. As a result, the Group, as a 
lessee, has recognized right-of-use assets representing its right to use underlying assets and lease 
liabilities representing its obligation to make lease payments. Lessor accounting remains similar to 
previous accounting policies. 
 
In accordance with the transition provisions in IFRS 16, the Group has recognized the cumulative effect 
of initial application of the standard in retained earnings at 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the 
comparative information presented for 2018 has not been restated. The new accounting policies are 
disclosed in note 46. 

Definition of a lease 
 
Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contained a lease 
under IAS 17 – Leases ("IAS 17") and IFRIC 4 – Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease ("IFRIC 4"). The Group now assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the new 
definition of a lease. Under IFRS 16, a contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys a right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  

As a lessee 
 
The Group leases offices, labour camps, warehouses, equipment, vehicles, land from Government of 
Dubai and a sewage water treatment plant.  

As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment 
of whether a lease transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. Under IFRS 16, 
the Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities at the date at which the leased asset is 
available for the use by the Group. This excludes low value and short term leases. 

Transition 
 

At transition, the associated right-of-use assets are measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, 
adjusted by the amount of any prepayments relating to that lease recognised in the consolidated balance 
sheet as of 1 January 2019. 
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3 Changes in significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
IFRS 16 – Leases (continued) 
 
As a lessee (continued) 
 
In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the following practical expedients permitted 
by the standard: 
 
• the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics. 

The discount rate applied ranges from 6.5% to 7%; 

• the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 
January 2019 as short-term leases; 

• the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of 
initial application; 

• the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend 
or terminate the lease; and 

• the election, by class of underlying asset, not to separate non-lease components from lease 
components, and instead account for each lease component and any associated non-lease 
components as a single lease component. 

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the 
assessment of which transactions are leases (i.e. it applied IFRS 16 only to those contracts that were 
previously identified as leases). The Group has elected not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains 
a lease at the date of initial application. Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition date the 
Group relied on its assessment made applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 – Determining Whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease ("IFRIC 4"). 
 
As a lessor 
Accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor are not different from those under IAS 17. The 
Group is not required to make any adjustments on transition to IFRS 16 for leases in which it acts as a 
lessor. 

Impacts on financial statements 
 
(a)   Impact on transition 

 
On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognized right-of-use assets with regards to lease liabilities and 
recognized the resultant difference in retained earnings. The impact on transition is summarized as 
below: 

 
 At 1 January 2019 
 AED’000 
  
Right-of-use assets 293,137 
Lease liabilities     (296,815) 
Retained earnings 3,678 
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3 Changes in significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Capitalisation of borrowing costs 
 
In line with the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee agenda decision on ‘Over 
Time Transfer of Constructed Goods (IAS 23 Borrowing Costs)’ issued in March 2019, the Group has 
changed its accounting policy in respect of capitalizing borrowing costs in relation to the construction 
of the real estate development for sale. Borrowing costs relating to real estate development for sale 
during the accounting period is accounted for as a finance cost in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Previously such borrowing costs were capitalised within Properties under development for sale within 
inventories. 
 

In accordance with IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ the 
change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively.  
 

The impact on the key line items in the consolidated financial statements in respect of the above 
restatement and change in accounting policy is as follows: 

 
 At 1 January 2019 
 AED’000 
  
Inventories (166,838) 
Retained earnings 154,432 
Non-controlling interest 12,406 
  
 

As the effects of the change in accounting policy prior to the year ended 31 December 2018 were not 
significant, management has elected not to restate the comparatives. 
 
Measurement of land classified under Property, plant and equipment 

The Group has changed its accounting policy in respect of the measurement of land held within 
property, plant and equipment, which it now records at historical cost net of accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. Under the previous accounting policy, land was carried at a revalued amount. 
 
In accordance with IAS 8 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors', 
retrospective application has been applied in respect of this accounting policy change. This retrospective 
adjustment has had the following impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements. 
 

The impact on the key line items in the consolidated financial statements in respect of the above change 
in accounting policy is as follows: 

 
 At 1 January 2019 
 AED’000 
  
Revaluation reserve 22,000 
Retained earnings (22,000) 
  

 

As the effects of the change in accounting policy prior to the year ended 31 December 2018 were not 
significant, management has elected not to restate the comparatives. 
 

The other standards and amendments that have been applied by the Group for the first time for their 
annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2019 have not had any impact on the amounts 
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods. 
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4 Standards issued but not yet effective 
 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, and earlier application is permitted, however, the Group 
has not early adopted the following new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial 
statements.  
 
Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 
 
The IASB has issued a revised Conceptual Framework which will be used in standard-setting decisions 
with immediate effect. Key changes include: 
 

• increasing the prominence of stewardship in the objective of financial reporting; 
•  reinstating prudence as a component of neutrality; 
• defining a reporting entity, which may be a legal entity, or a portion of an entity; 
• revising the definitions of an asset and a liability; 
• removing the probability threshold for recognition and adding guidance on derecognition; 
• adding guidance on different measurement basis, and 
• stating that profit or loss is the primary performance indicator and that, in principle, income 

and expenses in other comprehensive income should be recycled where this enhances the 
relevance or faithful representation of the financial statements. 

 
No changes will be made to any of the current accounting standards. However, entities that rely on the 
Framework in determining their accounting policies for transactions, events or conditions that are not 
otherwise dealt with under the accounting standards will need to apply the revised Framework from 1 
January 2020. These entities will need to consider whether their accounting policies are still appropriate 
under the revised Framework. 

 
Definition of Material – Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 
 
The IASB has made amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors which use a consistent definition of materiality 
throughout International Financial Reporting Standards and the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting, clarify when information is material and incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about 
immaterial information. 
 
In particular, the amendments clarify: 
 

• that the reference to obscuring information addresses situations in which the effect is similar 
to omitting or misstating that information, and that an entity assesses materiality in the context 
of the financial statements as a whole, and 

• the meaning of ‘primary users of general purpose financial statements’ to whom those financial 
statements are directed, by defining them as ‘existing and potential investors, lenders and other 
creditors’ that must rely on general purpose financial statements for much of the financial 
information they need. 

 
Definition of a Business – Amendments to IFRS 3 
 
The amended definition of a business requires an acquisition to include an input and a substantive 
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The definition of the term 
‘outputs’ is amended to focus on goods and services provided to customers, generating investment 
income and other income, and it excludes returns in the form of lower costs and other economic benefits. 
The amendments will likely result in more acquisitions being accounted for as asset acquisitions. 
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4             Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
Those standards that are not yet effective, are not expected to have a significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
5 Financial risk management 
 

Overview 
 

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments: 
 

• credit risk 
• liquidity risk 
• market risk 
 

Risk management framework 
 

The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Group’s risk management framework. The Board of Directors has established the Group’s risk 
management function which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management 
policies. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions and the Group’s activities. 
 

The Group’s Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by the 
Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls 
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.  
 
Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s trade receivables, due 
from customers for contract work, due from related parties, retention receivables, rent receivables, 
investments in debt securities, short-term deposits with banks and cash and cash equivalents. 
 
(a) Trade receivables, due from customers for contract work, retention receivables, rent 

receivables and  due from related parties 
 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, 
including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors may 
have an influence on credit risk. 
 

The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to customers by reviewing credit to individual 
customers by tracking their historical business relationship and default risk. Subsidiaries operating in the 
property segment sell its properties subject to retention of title clauses, so that in the event of non-
payment the Group may have a secured claim. Advances are received at the time of signing of lease 
terms and all construction, renovation or any kind of work to be carried out at the leased premises needs 
prior approval from the Group.  The risk of default in instalment is thereby mitigated as the customer 
(tenant) has incurred significant capital expenditure on the leased premises which can be taken over by 
the Group in the event of default. In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according 
to their credit characteristics, history with the entity and existence of previous financial difficulties.
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
  
Credit risk (continued) 
 

(b) Investments in debt securities 
 
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in liquid debt securities and only with 
counterparties that have credible market reputation. 
 
The Group monitors changes in credit risk by tracking published external credit ratings. To determine 
whether published ratings remain up to date and to assess whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk at the reporting date that has not been reflected in published ratings, the Group supplements 
this by reviewing changes in bond yields.  

(c) Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits 
 
Cash is placed with local and international banks of good credit reputation. The Group considers that 
its cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the 
counterparties. The cash and cash equivalents at the balance sheet date is placed with local and 
international banks having credit ratings A2 to Baa1. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 
 
The Group aims to maintain the level of cash and cash equivalents and other liquid investments at an 
amount in excess of expected cash outflows on financial liabilities. This excludes the potential impact 
of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its financial instruments. The objective of 
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, 
while optimizing the return. 
 
The Group uses derivatives in order to manage market risks, however, the Group does not apply hedge 
accounting. 
 
(a) Currency risk 
 
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other 
than the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, primarily Euro. The Group does not face 
any foreign currency risk on transactions denominated in USD as AED is pegged to USD. 
 
The Group manages its exposure in foreign currency exchange rates by the use of derivative instruments.  
 
In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group policy 
is to ensure that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying and selling foreign currencies 
at spot rate when necessary to address short term imbalances. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Market risk (continued) 
 
(b) Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the net finance 
expense of the Group. 
 

Financial assets and liabilities that are subject to fair value risk are the ones with fixed interest rate. 
Financial assets and liabilities that are subject to cash flow rate risk are the ones with floating interest 
rate. 
 

The Group hedged its exposure to certain floating rate long term loans by entering into structured interest 
rate swaps with banks. At 31 December 2019 the Group held outstanding interest rate swap contacts 
with notional amounts of AED 887 million. The swaps mature in the year 2026. 
 
Sukuk notes amounting to USD 300 million (AED 1,101.6 million) issued by a Group’s subsidiary in 
2014 (repaid in February 2019) carried fixed interest rate of 4.291% p.a. 
 

The long-term loans attract varying rates of interest, which are, in general, varied with reference to the 
base lending rates of the banks at regular intervals. 
 
(c) Price risk 
 

Price risk arises from marketable securities measured at fair value. Management of the Group monitors 
the mix of debt and equity securities in investments portfolio to maximize investment returns, which is 
the primary goal of the Group’s investment strategy. In accordance with this strategy certain 
investments are designated as fair value through profit or loss because their performance is actively 
monitored and they are managed on a fair value basis. 
 
Capital management 
 

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the 
return on capital, which is defined as profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company 
divided by total shareholders' equity. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividend to 
ordinary shareholders.  

The Board of Directors seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible 
with higher levels of borrowing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 
The Board has defined the Company’s gearing ratio to be maintained below 1:2 level. This ratio is 
calculated as net debt divided by total equity plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as the total bank 
borrowings plus sukuk notes less cash and cash equivalents and investments classified as Level 1 and 
Level 2. Total equity is calculated as shown in the statement of financial position. 



Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2019 (continued) 
 

(26) 

6 Cost of sales 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
These mainly include:    
Materials consumed 892,576  1,046,116 
Depreciation and amortization 191,679  138,007 
Factory overheads (excluding depreciation) 170,791  188,580 
Staff costs 143,286  143,667 
Government of Dubai’s share of the realized profits of a 
subsidiary (refer note 12) 108,062  

 
115,358 

Infrastructure and development works cost sharing with Roads 
and Transport Authority (“RTA”) (refer note 35) 29,077  

 
29,077 

Cost of properties sold 27,872  81,714 
Provision for write down of inventories to net realizable value 

(refer note 18)  10,402  
 

73,290 
    
 

7 Administrative and general expenses 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
These mainly include:    
Staff costs 254,673  255,305 
Selling and marketing expenses 63,986  50,716 
Depreciation and amortization 45,759  35,905 
    
 

Selling and marketing expenses include an amount of AED 1.45 million (2018: AED 1 million) 
incurred towards charity and social contributions. 
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8 Finance income and costs 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Interest income 49,205  45,991 
Unwinding of discount on financial assets measured at 

amortized cost -  1,477 
Finance income 49,205  47,468 
    
Interest costs/profit on sukuk notes (237,737)  (135,745) 
Net change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (9,530)  - 
Unwinding of discount on financial liabilities measured at 

amortized cost 1,805  1,805 
Finance expenses on lease liabilities  (19,931)  - 
Bank charges (15,572)  (12,354) 
Foreign exchange gain - net 1,580  4,239 
Finance costs (279,385)  (142,055) 
 
9 Other income 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
These mainly includes:    
Provision no longer required written back 11,129  9,526 
Sale of scrap 4,660  3,167 
Income from leased operations 4,100  1,397 
Service charges 3,516  5,413 
Management fee 2,493  4,678 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,162  44 
Advertisement income 35   4,510 
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10 Property, plant and equipment 
 

 Land  Building  
Plant and 

equipment 
Office equipment 

and furniture Motor vehicles 
Capital work-in- 

progress Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
Cost        
At 1 January 2018 9,600 928,400 1,295,104 98,240 22,986 63,914 2,418,244 
Additions 75,218 8,885 37,787 10,775 861 189,913 323,439 
Transfer from inventories (refer (ii) below) 128,097 - - - - 52,388 180,485 
Disposals and write-offs - - (1,392) (715) (869) (23) (2,999) 
Acquisition through business combination  - 167,371 1,595,385 10,309 168 372,555 2,145,788 
Transfers - 2,963 97,105 506 467 (101,041) - 
At 31 December 2018 212,915 1,107,619 3,023,989 119,115 23,613 577,706 5,064,957 
        
Additions (refer (i) below) - 2,792 45,084 6,420 2,049 387,973 444,318 
Disposals and write-offs - (167) (1,868) (1,759) (2,641) - (6,435) 
Acquisition through business combination  

(refer note 40) - 43,445 61,695 2,176 61 960 108,337 
Transfers - 13,986 18,699 2,070 - (34,755) - 
At 31 December 2019  212,915 1,167,675 3,147,599 128,022 23,082 931,884 5,611,177 
        
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses        
At 1 January 2018 - 342,790 718,032 84,814 20,045 10,708 1,176,389 
Charge for the year - 40,261 115,317 9,593 1,450 - 166,621 
On disposals and write-offs - - (1,052) (664) (722) - (2,438) 
On acquisition through business combination  - 18,616 271,386 6,698 168 - 296,868 
Impairment loss - - 86 - - - 86 
At 31 December 2018 - 401,667 1,103,769 100,441 20,941 10,708 1,637,526 
        
Charge for the year - 41,362 116,620 10,782 1,798 - 170,562 
On disposals and write-offs - (167) (1,596) (1,759) (2,641) - (6,163) 
On acquisition through business combination  

(refer note 40) - 16,984 38,462 1,669 54 - 57,169 
At 31 December 2019 - 459,846 1,257,255 111,133 20,152 10,708 1,859,094 
        
Net book value        
At 31 December 2018 212,915 705,952 1,920,220 18,674 2,672 566,998 3,427,431 
At 31 December 2019 212,915 707,829 1,890,344 16,889 2,930 921,176 3,752,083 
 

 



Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December  
2019 (continued) 
 

(29) 

10 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

(i) Additions to capital work-in-progress represents costs incurred by subsidiaries for construction 
of hotels, district cooling plants and expansion of their manufacturing facilities.  
 

Included in capital work-in-progress at 31 December 2019 is an amount of AED 53.4 million 
(2018: AED 53.4 million) for which a subsidiary has decided to temporarily put the expansion 
of a manufacturing facility on hold. Based on a review of the carrying values, an impairment 
loss of AED 10.7 million was recorded for this capital work-in-progress in previous years. 
 

(ii) During 2018, the Group commenced construction of two hotels on plots of land classified within 
inventories in the earlier years which management intend to operate themselves once 
constructed. Accordingly, an amount of AED 180.5 million was reclassified from inventories 
to property, plant and equipment during the previous year.  

 

(iii) Buildings, plant and machinery with a net book value of AED 2,426 million (2018: AED 1,990 
million) are mortgaged as security against term loans obtained from banks. In certain instances, 
the insurance over buildings and plant and machinery is also assigned in favor of the banks 
against facilities availed.     
 

11 Goodwill and intangible assets 
 

 Goodwill 

Product 
registration 
certificates, 

licenses, 
patent  

and 
 trade mark 

Customer 
contracts 

Other  
intangible 

assets 
 

Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Cost      
As at 1 January 2018  124,085 7,445 - 18,675 150,205 
Acquisitions through business 
combination - - 233,272 - 233,272 

Additions  - - - 219 219 
As at 31 December 2018 124,085 7,445 233,272 18,894 383,696 
On acquisitions through business 
combination (refer note 40 (b)) - 222,825 - - 222,825 

Additions during the year - 254 - - 254 
As at 31 December 2019 124,085 230,524 233,272 18,894 606,775 

      
Accumulated amortization and 
impairment losses      
At 1 January 2018 (29,659) (7,445) - (14,261) (51,365) 
Amortization - - (5,981) (1,310) (7,291) 
As at 31 December 2018 (29,659) (7,445) (5,981) (15,571) (58,656) 
Amortization - (12,350) (5,981) - (18,331) 
On acquisitions through business 
combination - (9,358) - - (9,358) 

As at 31 December 2019 (29,659) (29,153) (11,962)  (15,571) (86,345) 
      
Carrying amount      
31 December 2018 94,426 - 227,291 3,323 325,040 
31 December 2019 94,426 201,371 221,310 3,323 520,430 
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11 Goodwill and intangible assets (continued) 
 
The Group tests goodwill for impairment using value-in-use calculations on an annual basis. The 
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a 
five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth 
rates stated below. These growth rates are consistent with the industry forecasts in which each CGU 
operates. The goodwill mainly relates to manufacturing and service operations of the Group.  
 
Product registration certificates, licenses, patent and trademark 

Product registration certificates represent the value of the certificates granted by the regulatory 
authorities to manufacture and market certain medical and pharmaceutical products. 
 
The products registrations have been valued using the Multi period Excess Earnings Method (“MEEM”) 
under the income approach. The MEEM approach involves the valuation of the net residual income 
stream derived from the customer contracts after deduction of an appropriate Contributory Asset 
Charges (“CAC”) to reflect returns attributable to all other assets, both tangible and intangible, 
employed in supporting the product registrations related intangible asset. 
 
The underlying cash flows have been discounted using Weighted Average Cost of Capital (“WACC”) 
of 13.5%. 
 
The products registration certificates are being amortized over the remaining useful life of 15 years. 

Customer contracts 

Customer contracts represents the value of rights that arise from contractual agreements. These 
represents long term contracts spanning over a period of 20 years with individual and corporate 
customers with a renewal option available. 

The customer contracts are being amortized over the life of associated infrastructure which is 
approximately 39 years. 
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12 Investment properties 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
At 1 January 8,292,108  7,704,980 
Additions 316,098  284,468 
Transferred from inventories (refer note 18) -  199,895 
Transferred from development properties  -  5,183 
Sale of investment properties (37,542)  (4,315) 
Gain on fair valuation (net) 134,414  101,897 
At 31 December 8,705,078  8,292,108 
 
- During 2018, based on a change in use, the Group reclassified land and buildings under 

construction from inventories to investment properties. 
 

- Additions during the year represents development work in progress on certain plots of land. 
 
Investment properties comprises the following: 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Infrastructure and ancillary facilities 4,977,608  4,847,122 
Plots of land for future development and under development  1,693,522  1,248,896 
Residential, retail and commercial facilities 1,388,918  1,540,160 
Labor camps and warehouses 645,030  655,930 
 8,705,078  8,292,108 
 
 

(a) Infrastructure and ancillary facilities: 
 

These are built on the land (Plot number 598-0100 and 597-0100 located in Jebel Ali Industrial Area) 
obtained from the Government of Dubai on a renewable, non-cancellable long-term lease of 99 years. 
The Group was exempted to pay the lease rentals for the first ten years and thereafter, starting 1 
February 2009, 20% of the net realized profits from real estate activities are payable to the Government 
of Dubai. 
 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has obtained fair values of all phases, and the valuations were 
carried out using the income valuation approach, after taking into consideration the cash outflows 
resulting from the estimated 20% share of the net realized profits due to the Government of Dubai. The 
fair valuation gain of AED 126.6 million (2018: AED 250.0 million) has arisen due to a significant 
change in the net cash flows as per the terms of the lease contracts with tenants. 
 
Since the valuation of all completed phases by the independent registered valuer is based on future net 
cash flows, an adjustment has been made for rent accrued on the straight line basis as per IFRS 16. 
Similarly, the unearned rent billed in advance and recognized liabilities for 20% share of the 
Government of Dubai at the valuation date have been included in the valuation of investment properties. 
The reconciliation of valuation of investment properties carried out by the independent registered valuer 
and the adjusted valuation included in the consolidated financial statements is as follows: 
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12 Investment properties (continued) 
 
(a) Infrastructure and ancillary facilities (continued): 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Fair valuation of completed phases and ancillary facilities as  

per independent registered valuation reports 
 

4,720,289  4,596,414 
Less: adjustment for rent receivable for completed phases  

(note 16) (46,195)  (43,958) 
Add: adjustment for unearned rent for completed phases* 

(note 26) 195,452  179,308 
Add: adjustment for recognized liabilities (included in trade 

and other payables (refer notes 6 and 26) 108,062  115,358 
 4,977,608  4,847,122 
 
* Unearned rent represents lease rentals billed in advance. 
 

Significant unobservable inputs in the fair value measurement mainly includes: future market rental 
cash inflows, outgoing costs and risk adjusted discount rates.  
 
(b) Plots of land for future development and under development comprises of: 
 
(i) a plot of land received by a subsidiary as a grant from the Government of Fujairah; and 
 
(ii) other plots of land for residential and commercial development 
 
As at 31 December 2019, the fair valuation of the plots of land has been carried out using the sales 
comparison or income valuation approach, as appropriate, resulting in a net fair valuation gain of AED 
42.4 million (2018: fair valuation loss of AED 16 million). 
 
Significant unobservable inputs in the fair value measurement mainly includes market sales rates and 
risk adjusted discount rate. 
 
(c) Residential, retail and commercial facilities comprises of: 
 
(i) A mixed use building constructed on a plot of land granted by the Government of Dubai which 

has been leased on operating leases; 
 

(ii) A mixed use building constructed on a plot of land granted by the Government of Fujairah, 
which is under construction; 
 

(iii) Residential units held for rentals; and 
 
(iv) Other retail and commercial facilities on operating leases. 
 
The residential, retail and commercial facilities have been valued using the sales comparison,  income 
capitalization approach or income valuation approach, as appropriate, resulting in a net fair valuation 
loss of AED 23.7 million (2018: fair valuation loss of AED 116.6 million). 
 
Significant unobservable inputs in the fair value measurement mainly includes: future market rental 
cash inflows, capitalisation yield rates, void periods, market sales rates and risk adjusted discount rate. 
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12 Investment properties (continued) 
 
(c) Residential, retail and commercial facilities comprises of: (continued) 
 
Residential properties amounting to AED Nil (2018: AED 457 million) are mortgaged against facilities 
obtained from a bank. Further, the insurance over these properties is also assigned in favor of the bank. 
 
(d) Labor camps and warehouses: 
 
The fair valuation of labor camps and warehouses at the reporting date has been determined by using an 
income capitalization approach resulting in a net fair valuation loss of AED 10.9 million (2018: fair 
valuation loss of AED 15.5 million). 
 
Significant unobservable inputs in the fair value measurement mainly includes: future market rental 
cash inflows, capitalisation yield rates, outgoing costs and void periods. 
 
Valuation processes 
 

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31 December 2019 by independent registered valuers 
in accordance with the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Manual issued by the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors taking into account requirements of IFRS 13 ‘Fair value measurements’. For all investment 
properties, their current use equates to the highest and best use. Management review the valuations 
performed by the independent valuers for financial reporting purposes which among other things 
include: 
 
- provision and verification of all major inputs to the independent valuation reports; 
- assessment of property valuation movements when compared to the prior year valuation reports; 

and 
- discussions with the independent valuers. 
 
Valuation techniques underlying management’s estimation of fair value 
 
The valuations were determined by independent third party valuers using the income valuation 
approach, income capitalization approach and sales comparison approach based on the below 
significant unobservable inputs. In determining a property’s valuation, the valuers take into account 
property specific information such as the current contracted tenancies agreements and forecast operating 
expenses. They apply certain assumptions such as capitalization yield rates, void rates, discount rates 
and estimated market rent, which are influenced by specific characteristics, such as property location, 
income return and occupancy of each property in the portfolio, to arrive at the final valuation. 
 

The valuation basis and assumptions used for valuation of investments properties remains largely 
consistent with the methodology adopted as at 31 December 2018. 
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12 Investment properties (continued) 

Valuation techniques underlying management’s estimation of fair value (continued) 
 

Significant unobservable inputs include: 
 

Future rental cash inflows based on the actual location, type and quality of the properties 
and supported by the terms of any existing leases, such as market 
rental growth and rent-free periods. If rental rates were 10% 
higher/lower, the valuation would have been AED 604 million 
higher/AED 607 million lower respectively, with all other 
variables remaining constant. 
 

Capitalisation yield rates based on the actual location, size and quality of the properties 
and taking into account market data at the valuation date. If 
capitalisation yield rates were 1% higher/lower, the valuation 
would have been AED 132 million lower or AED 161 million 
higher respectively, with all other variables remaining constant. 
 

Market sales rates based on the estimated selling price of comparable properties and 
taking into account  the market data at the date of valuation. If 
the market sales rate were 10% higher/lower the valuation would 
have been AED 167 million higher/AED 167 million lower.  

Discount rates reflecting current market assessments of the uncertainty in the 
amount and timing of cash flows. If discount rates were 1% 
higher/lower, the valuation would have been AED 535 million 
lower or AED 695 million higher respectively, with all other 
variables remaining constant. 
 

Outgoing expenses including necessary maintenance and other expenses to maintain 
functionality of the properties for their expected useful life. If 
maintenance and operating costs were 10% higher/lower, the 
valuation would have been AED 169 million lower or AED 164 
million higher respectively, with all other variables remaining 
constant. 
 

 

Fair value hierarchy 
 

The fair value of investment properties is classified under level 3 fair value hierarchy. 
 

The following table shows reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for Level 
3 fair values. 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Balance at 1 January            8,292,108  7,704,980 
Additions               316,098  284,468 
Transfers from development properties                          -  5,183 
Transfers from inventories                          -  199,895 
Sale of investment properties    (37,542)  (4,315) 
Changes in fair value (unrealized)              134,414  101,897 
Balance at 31 December           8,705,078  8,292,108 
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13 Financial investments 
 

 2019  2018 
  AED’000  AED’000 
(i) Investments at fair value through other comprehensive 

income - refer note 13 (a)    
    
Equity securities 120,653  133,586 
    
(ii)  Investments at fair value through profit or loss - refer note 

13 (b)    
    
Held for trading quoted equity securities 205,467  355,280 
Unquoted equity securities, funds, bonds and sukuks 1,234,775  1,073,947 
 1,440,242  1,429,227 
 

Geographical distribution of investments: 
UAE 741,514  730,775 
Other GCC countries 370,688  351,243 
Other countries 448,693  480,795 
 1,560,895  1,562,813 
 
Investments in unquoted equity securities, funds and bonds with a fair value of AED 537 million (2018: 
AED 682 million) are pledged in favor of banks against borrowings availed (refer note 24). 
 
Sensitivity analysis – equity price risk 
 

The Group’s investments in quoted equity securities are listed on various MENA stock exchanges. For 
such investments classified as fair value through profit or loss, a 10 % increase/(decrease) in the equity 
prices at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit by AED 37.8 million (2018: AED 
31.5 million). 
 
(a) Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 
 
The main investment held relates to a 5% shareholding in First Energy Bank, which is a Sharia'a 
compliant bank based in the Kingdom of Bahrain focused on investment, financing and service needs 
of the energy sector. 
 
(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss 
 
The major investments are in unquoted equity securities, funds, bonds and sukuks are in bonds and 
managed funds. 
 

The Group has invested AED 502.6 million (2018: AED 597 million) in diversified fixed income bonds 
portfolio and AED 34.9 million (2018: AED 85.2 million) in managed equity funds by utilizing a related 
leverage facility of AED 371 million (2018: AED 426 million). Most of these bonds have counterparty 
credit rating of investment grade and the portfolio has an average maturity of 3 years. 
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13       Financial investments (continued) 
 
(c) Measurement of fair values 
 
The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements: 
 
Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market. The fair values are based on market 
price at the valuation date. The Group’s investment in held for trading quoted equity securities are 
classified in this category. 
 
Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e., derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in 
active markets for similar instruments; quoted market prices for identical or similar instruments in 
markets that are considered less active; broker quotes; or other valuation techniques where all 
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. The Group’s investment in 
structured funds, sukuks and bonds are classified in this category. 
 
Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all 
instruments where the valuation techniques include inputs not based on observable data and the 
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes 
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant 
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments. 
 

In certain cases, the valuation is also determined based on fund manager valuation reports and project 
progress reports. The Group’s investment in unquoted equity securities and managed funds are 
classified in this category.  Generally, a change in underlying comparative data used for estimating fair 
value is accompanied by a change in the fair value. 
 
The Group has reviewed the fair value of investments classified as fair value through profit or loss and 
accordingly, a gain of AED 67 million has been recorded in profit or loss during the current year (2018: 
loss of AED 153.3 million). The gain has arisen mainly due to marked to market of held for trading 
equity securities and increase in fair value of certain unquoted equity securities, funds and bonds.  
 
The Group has reviewed the fair value of investments in unquoted equity securities classified as fair 
value through other comprehensive income and accordingly, no change in fair value has been posted 
during the current year in other comprehensive income (2018: loss of AED 48.2 million). 
 
The table on the next page analyses financial instruments, measured at fair value at the end of the 
reporting period, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is 
categorized: 
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13       Financial investments (continued) 
 
(c) Measurement of fair values (continued) 
 

31 December 2019 
Level 1 

AED’000 
 Level 2 

AED’000 
 Level 3 

AED’000 
 Total 

AED’000 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 183,092 

 

853,567 

 

403,583 

 

1,440,242 
Financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive 
income 619 

 

- 

 

120,034 

 

120,653 

 183,711  853,567  523,617  1,560,895 
 

31 December 2018 
Level 1 

AED’000 
 Level 2 

AED’000 
 Level 3 

AED’000 
 Total 

AED’000 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 349,971 

 

699,513 

 

379,743 

 

1,429,227 
Financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive 
income 645 

 

- 

 

132,941 

 

133,586 
 350,616  699,513  512,684  1,562,813 
 
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values measurements of investments 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
As at 1 January 512,684  515,683 
Additions during the year 7,624  95,659 
Redeemed/ sold during the year  (19,645)  (32,187) 
Loss recorded in OCI    
- Net change in fair value (unrealized) -  (48,205) 
Gain/(loss) recorded in profit or loss    
- Net change in fair value (unrealized) 22,954  (18,266) 
As at 31 December 523,617  512,684 
 

Investments redeemed during the year represents sale of investment in unquoted equity securities with 
a carrying value of AED 19.6 million classified as fair value through other comprehensive income. 
Upon redemption of investment, the related fair value reserve amounting to AED 9.1 million has been 
transferred to retained earnings.  
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
Investments classified as Level 3, a 10% increase/(decrease) in the NAV value at the reporting date 
would have increased/(decreased) profit by AED 40.3 million (2018: AED 51.3 million).
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14 Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 59,848  - 
    
 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit of loss represents a receivable from Dubai Electricity 
and Water Authority for a substation cost incurred by one of the subsidiaries. The fair valuation of this 
receivable has been determined using a present value of expected cash flows. As there are significant 
unobservable inputs used in determining fair value of this receivable, it has been categorised as a level 
3 financial instrument. 
 
15 Investment in equity accounted investees’ 

 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Investment in joint ventures (refer (i) below) 18,047  17,053 
Investment in associates (refer (ii) below) 111,389  229,701 
Total investment in equity accounted investees 129,436  246,754 
 

(i) Joint ventures 
 

 

The following are the investments in joint ventures held by the Group as at 31 December 2019: 
 

QDI Sport Management Company LLC (“QDI”) 
 

QDI, a limited liability company incorporated in the UAE, is a joint venture between the Group and Al 
Qudra Sports Management LLC. The principal activities of the joint venture are to engage in sports 
clubs and facilities management and other sports related activities within the UAE. The Group 
effectively owns 50% equity in this entity. 
 

Palisades Development Company LLC 
 

This is a limited liability company registered in the UAE. The principal activities of the entity is 
management and administration of a project undertaken on plots of land located in Dubai Investments 
Park. The Group effectively owns 50 % equity in this entity. 
 
The following table summarizes the financial information of joint ventures as included in their own 
financial statements. The table also reconciles the summarized financial information to the carrying 
amount of the Group’s interest in joint ventures. 
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15 Investment in equity accounted investees’ (continued) 
 
(i) Joint ventures (continued) 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Non-current assets 3,072  128 
Current assets 35,630  31,178 
Non-current liabilities (18,340)  (16,270) 
Current liabilities (6,966)  (3,628) 
Net assets (100%) 13,396  11,408 
    
Group’s share of net assets 6,698  5,704 
Goodwill 11,349  11,349 
Carrying amount of interest in joint ventures 18,047  17,053 
    
Income 75,144  58,236 
Other expenses (72,376)  (57,002) 
Profit for the year (100%) 2,768  1,234 
    
Group’s share of profit 1,384  617 
Group’s share of other comprehensive income -  - 
Group’s share of total comprehensive income 1,384  617 
Dividends received by the Group 390  - 
 
(ii) Associates 
 

 
Effective 7 March 2019, the Group acquired the additional 66% shares in its existing associate entity, 
Globalpharma Co. LLC (“Globalpharma”). Upon acquisition of the additional interest, Globalpharma 
has become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. Accordingly, the investment in the equity 
accounted investee has been derecognized and the entity has been consolidated on a line by line basis 
effective from the date of acquisition. Also refer note 40 (b). 
 
The Group’s associates comprise includes the following entities: 
 

 2019  2018 
 Ownership %  Ownership % 
Associate    
Globalpharma LLC (see Note 40 (c) ) -  34 
Emirates Aluminium Rolling (“Emiroll”) LLC 30  30 
KCH Healthcare LLC 26.75  26.75 
Clemenceau Medical Center FZ ("CMC Dubai") 20  20 
Africa Crest Education ("ACE") 37  32 
Mojavi 4 Limited (*) 40  40 
Mojavi 9 Limited (*) 55  55 
Mojavi 10 Limited (*) 36  36 
Mojavi 20 Limited (*) 20  20 
 
* Percentage ownership reflects the direct ownership through subsidiaries and is not the effective 
ownership of the Group. 
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15 Investment in equity accounted investees’ (continued) 
 
(ii) Associates (continued) 
 
The following table summarizes the financial information of associates, adjusted for fair value 
adjustments at recognition and differences in accounting policies. The table also reconciles the 
summarized financial information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in associates as at 31 
December 2019. 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Total assets 1,487,284  1,300,445 
Total liabilities (1,061,435)  (751,336) 
Net assets (100%) 425,849  549,109 
    
Group’s share of net assets 111,389  164,809 
Fair value adjustment of retained interest upon initial 
recognition -  175,748 
Impairment of investment in equity accounted investee -  (110,856) 
Carrying amount of interest in associates 111,389  229,701 
    
Income 40,190  126,341 
Expenses (236,195)  (234,272) 
Loss for the year (100%) (196,005)  (107,931) 
    
Group’s share of  loss  (59,964)  (29,769) 
Group’s share of other comprehensive income -  - 
Group’s share of total comprehensive income (59,964)  (29,769) 
 
During prior year, the Group carried out an assessment of the recoverable amount of an associate based 
on the fair value less costs of disposal. The assessment resulted in an impairment loss of AED 28 
million. Fair value less costs of disposal had been computed using discounted cash flow projections. 
Key assumptions included: discount rate of 8.9% and terminal growth rate of 1%. 
 
(iii) The movement in investment in equity accounted investees’ is as follows: 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
At 1 January 246,754  606,677 
Group’s share of loss for the year (58,580)  (29,152) 
Dividends received during the year (390)  - 
Impairment of investment in equity accounted investee  -  (27,990) 
On acquisition of controlling interest in equity accounted 

investees (refer note 39) (94,643)  (375,346) 
Disposal of entities -  (13,849) 
Investments made during the year 36,295  86,414 
At 31 December 129,436  246,754 
 
There are no further commitments or contingent liabilities relating Group’s interest in the equity 
accounted investees. 
 



Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December  
2019 (continued) 
 

(41) 
 

16 Rent receivable 
 
Rent receivable represents the differential between the amount billed to tenants and the amount 
recognized as rental income on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. The difference principally 
arises due to an initial rent free period allowed and the rent increase agreed after the expiry of the initial 
term of the lease. 
 
17 Finance lease receivable 
 
The Group has the following interest in finance leases: 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Gross investment 1,938  3,181 
Unearned finance income (115)  (217) 
Net investment 1,823  2,964 
Less: amount due in less than one year classified under other 

receivables (refer note 20) (965)  (1,387) 
Non-current portion 858  1,577 
 
The finance leases receivable by the Group are as follows: 
 

 

Minimum 
lease 

payments  Interest  Principal  

Minimum 
lease 

payments  Interest  Principal 
 2019  2019  2019  2018  2018  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
            
Less than one year 997  32  965  1,435  48  1,387 
Between one and five 

years 941  83  858  1,746  169  1,577 
 1,938  115  1,823  3,181  217  2,964 
 
The Group’s interest in finance leases represents the lease of land let out on long term leases, whereby, 
the present value of the residual interest at the end of the lease term is estimated to be negligible. These 
leases are therefore accounted for as finance leases under IFRS 16 Leases. The terms of payment range 
from 2 to 5 years. No contingent rent is receivable. 
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18 Inventories 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
Raw materials, work-in-progress and spares (net of provision 

for old and slow moving inventories) 185,576  183,685 
Finished goods 76,961  60,015 
Goods in transit 463  2,417 
Properties under development/ held for sale (net of provision 

for write down to net realizable value) 2,677,426  2,559,733 
 2,940,426  2,805,850 
Less: properties under development for sale classified as 

non-current (net of provision for write down to net 
realizable value) (269,784)  (353,059) 

 2,670,642  2,452,791 
    
Inventories carried at net realizable value 895,254  1,006,031 
 

Properties under development for sale represent cost of land and expenditure incurred towards the 
development of properties for subsequent sale. The Group intends to develop these properties for sale 
and has classified certain properties as long term based on future development plans.  
 

Net realizable values for properties under development for sale have been estimated by independent 
registered valuers in accordance with the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Manual issued by the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors using a combination of valuation techniques including the sales 
comparison approach and indicative pricing studies. Based on these valuations, a decline in net 
realizable value of AED 10.4 million has been recognized during the current year (2018: AED 73.3 
million). Net realizable value estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters 
of significant judgment and therefore, cannot be determined with precision.  
 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group is carrying a provision of AED 159.9 million (2018: AED 149.5 
million) against properties under development for sale. 
 

In line with the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee agenda decision on ‘Over 
Time Transfer of Constructed Goods (IAS 23 Borrowing Costs)’ issued in March 2019, the Group has 
changed its accounting policy in respect of capitalizing borrowing costs in relation to the construction 
of the real estate development for sale. Borrowing costs relating to real estate development for sale 
during the accounting period is accounted for as a finance cost in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. Accordingly, inventories balance has been decreased by AED 166.8 million for 
the previously capitalized borrowing costs as at 31 December 2019. 
 

Inventories amounting to AED 1,273 million (2018: AED 1,117 million) are mortgaged against 
facilities obtained from banks. In certain instances, the insurance over inventories is also assigned in 
favor of banks. 
 

During 2018, management based on a change in use of properties under development for sale to lease 
to third parties, reclassified inventories with a carrying value of AED 199.9 million to investment 
properties (refer note 12). 
 

Further during 2018, the Group commenced construction of two hotels on plots of land classified as 
inventories in the earlier years for which management intend to operate themselves. Accordingly, an 
amount of AED 180.5 million was reclassified from inventories to property, plant and equipment during 
2018 (refer Note 10). 
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19 Trade receivables 
 

Trade receivables are stated net of provision for doubtful debts amounting to AED 171.82 million 
(2018: AED 165.3 million). Trade receivables that are expected to be realized after twelve months from 
the reporting date have been classified as non-current.  
 

Trade receivables amounting to AED 273.9 million are assigned against the facilities availed from the 
banks as at 31 December 2019 (2018: AED 45.64 million).  
 
20 Due from related parties and other receivables 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
Non – current    
Capital advance 24,835  24,846 
Other receivables 6,707  21,261 
 31,542  46,107 
Current    
Other receivables and prepayments    
-  receivable from customers for use of margin facilities 154,315  155,339 
-  retentions receivable 86,020  90,924 
-  advances paid to suppliers 65,316  168,735 
-  prepayments 51,343  42,660 
-  others 234,624  141,846 
Current portion of net investment in finance leases (refer note 

17) 965  1,387 
Due from related parties -  578 
Due from customers for contract work (refer (ii) below) 64,506  63,245 
 657,089  664,714 
 
(i) Other receivables that are expected to be realized after twelve months from the reporting date 

have been classified as non-current. 
 
(ii) Movement in due from customers for contract work is as follows: 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Contract costs incurred 790,934  820,579 
Recognized profits less recognized losses (90,403)  (60,414) 
 700,531  760,165 
Progress billings (636,025)  (696,920) 
Due from customers for contract work 64,506  63,245 
 
 2019  2018  
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Balance at the beginning of the year 63,245  100,769 
Additions during the year 190,043  305,186 
Progress billings (188,782)  (342,710) 
Balance at the ending of the year 64,506  63,245 
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21 Short-term deposits with bank and cash and cash equivalents 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Short term deposits    
Short term deposits with banks having maturity of more than 

3 months 1,045  69,373 
Short term deposits within UAE under lien with banks 89,879  65,050 
 90,924  134,423 
    
Cash and cash equivalents:    
Cash in hand 1,252  1,374 
Cash at bank within UAE (current accounts) 489,995  544,056 
Cash at bank outside UAE – GCC Countries (current accounts) 4,660  6,369 
Cash at bank outside UAE – Other countries (current accounts) 49,766  31,094 
Short term deposits within UAE having original maturity of 

less than 3 months 212,641  215,176 
Total cash and cash equivalents 758,314  798,069 
 
22 Long-term bank borrowings 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 

    
Long-term borrowings 5,121,526  3,043,553 
Less: Current portion of long term bank borrowings  

(note 24) (478,125)  (280,863) 
Non-current portion of long-term bank borrowings 4,643,401  2,762,690 
 

(i) The terms of the bank borrowings vary from three to ten years. These are secured by a 
combination of the Company’s corporate guarantee, mortgages over certain investment 
properties, inventories, trade receivables, property, plant and equipment, assignment of 
receivables and insurance policies over assets of the Group and lien on bank deposits. The 
interest rate of majority of the bank borrowings range between 1.5% to 3.5% over 
EIBOR/LIBOR p.a. Where there is a corporate guarantee, the Company’s liability is generally 
restricted to its percentage of equity interest in the borrowing entity. 
 

(ii) During the current period, a subsidiary of the Company, namely Dubai Investment Park 
Development Company LLC (“DIPDC”), obtained bilateral term loan facilities of USD 500 
million (AED 1,836.4 million) from local financial institutions. Terms of these borrowings 
vary from three to five years. The term loan proceeds were partially used to repay the USD 300 
million (AED 1,101.6 million) Sukuk notes which matured in February 2019 (note 23). 
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22 Long-term bank borrowings (continued) 
 

(iii) A subsidiary of the Company namely Dubai Investments Real Estate LLC has signed a long 
term loan facility of AED 1,080 million with the banks to finance the construction of a real 
estate development project. The facility has a term of 10 years with the available utilization 
period of up to 4 years. The repayment will commence immediately after the completion of the 
utilization period and will be through semi-annual instalments. 

 
 The facility consists of the following covenants which needs to be complied with by the 

Guarantor (i.e. the Company) and the Borrower (i.e. the subsidiary). 
 

For Guarantor: 
 
- Minimum tangible net worth of AED 8 billion 
- Net debt/EBITDA not to exceed 5 times 
- Debt/equity 1:1 or below 
- Total debt/tangible net worth of 1:1 or lower 
- Unencumbered assets to total unsecured debt of 2:1 or higher 
 
For Borrower: 
 
- Debt service coverage ratio of 1.2X to EBITDA 
- Loan to value of the project not to exceed 50% 
 
As at 31 December 2019, the subsidiary has utilized AED 721.2 million from the loan facility 
(2018: AED 505.5 million).  
 
The Group has complied with all covenants mentioned above. 

 
23 Sukuk notes 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Sukuk notes (300,000 notes of USD 1,000 each) -  1,101,600 
 
In February 2014, DIPDC issued 5 year Sukuk certificates maturing in February 2019 for USD 300 
million (equivalent to AED 1,101.6 million). The sukuk program was structured as a Wakala and was 
listed on NASDAQ Dubai and Irish Stock Exchanges. The terms of the arrangement included transfer 
of certain identified assets (the Wakala assets) of DIPDC to a Special Purpose Vehicle, DIP Sukuk Ltd. 
(the Issuer), formed for the issuance of sukuk certificates. In substance, the Wakala assets remained in 
control of DIPDC and continued to be serviced by DIPDC. In case of any shortfall in cash flows, 
DIPDC had provided an undertaking to make good on such shortfall to the sukuk certificate holders. 
The sukuk certificate holders had no recourse to the assets. These sukuk certificates had a fixed profit 
rate of 4.291% p.a. payable semi-annually. The issuer serviced the profit from returns generated from 
the Wakala assets.  
 

On the maturity date in February 2019, the sukuk notes have been repaid in full by obtaining bilateral 
loan facilities from local financial institutions as explained in note 22.    
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24 Bank borrowings 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 

    
Bank overdraft, trust receipt loans and bills discounted 513,023  455,051 
Short term loans 591,066  733,302 
Current portion of long term bank borrowings 478,125  280,863 
 1,582,214  1,469,216 
 
The bank borrowings are secured by a combination of mortgages and corporate guarantees. Where 
there is a corporate guarantee, the Group’s liability is mostly restricted to its percentage of equity 
interest in the borrowing entity. 
 
Short term loans amounting to AED 371.2 million (2018: AED 426.2 million) have been obtained for 
investments in bonds, funds and structured products and are secured against the pledge of those 
investments in favor of banks (refer note 13). 
 
The following table sets out an analysis of net debt as of the reporting period end: 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Cash and cash equivalents 758,314  798,069 
Short-term deposits with banks 90,924  134,423 
Liquid investments* 1,037,278  1,050,129 
 1,886,516  1,982,621 
    
Sukuk notes -  (1,101,600) 
Borrowings - repayable within one year (including overdraft) (1,582,214)  (1,469,216) 
Borrowings - repayable after one year (4,643,401)  (2,762,690) 
Lease liabilities - due within one year (39,934)  - 
Lease liabilities - due after one year (253,706)  - 
Net debt  (4,632,739)  (3,350,885) 
 
* Liquid investments comprise investments classified as Level 1 and Level 2 (refer note 13 (c)). 
 
The Group had access to undrawn banking facilities of AED 2,133.6 million as at 31 December 2019 
(2018: AED 1,688.9 million).  
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25 Leases 
 
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases where 
the Group is a lessee: 
 
(i) Right of use assets 

 Land  Building  
Plant and 

equipment Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     

Cost     
On adoption of IFRS 16 87,893 52,039 153,205 293,137 
On acquisitions through business combination 9,276 - - 9,276 
Additions during the year 2,584 13,199 - 15,783 
As at 31 December 2019 99,753 65,238 153,205 318,196 

     
Accumulated amortization and impairment 
losses     
Amortization 7,884 9,660 31,001 48,545 
As at 31 December 2019 7,884 9,660 31,001 48,545 
     
Carrying amount     
31 December 2019 91,869 55,578 122,204 269,651 
 
Lease liabilities 
    2019 
  AED 
   
Current  39,934 
Non-current  232,679 
  272,613 
 
   2019 
   AED 
    
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets   48,545 
Interest expense on lease liability (included in finance cost)    19,931 
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26 Trade and other payables 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Non-current    
Other payables 200,637  161,095 
    
Current    
Trade payables 683,336  612,371 
Payable to Government of Dubai for their share of realized 

profit of a subsidiary (refer note 12) 108,062  115,358 
Unearned rent (refer note 12) 195,452  179,308 
Advances received from customers / due to customers 182,236  118,864 
Other payables and accrued expenses 883,149  748,390 
 2,052,235  1,774,291 
 
27 Share capital and share premium 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Authorized:    
8,000 million shares of AED 1/- each (2018: 8,000 million 

shares of AED 1 each) 8,000,000  8,000,000 
    
Issued and paid up:    
4,252.02 million shares of AED 1/- each (2018: 4,252.02 

million shares of AED 1 each) 4,252,018  4,252,018 
 
In the year 1998, 5,474 unallocated shares were sold at the prevailing market price to a shareholder, at 
a premium of AED 46,000. 
 
28 Capital reserve 
 
Capital reserve comprises the net gain on sale of the Company’s own shares (treasury shares) by a 
subsidiary of the Company in the earlier years. 
 
29 Legal and general reserve 
 
In accordance with the Articles of Association of entities within the Group, Article 103 and Article 239 
of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, 10% of the profit for the year of the individual entities, to 
which the law is applicable, is to be transferred to the legal reserve. Such transfer may be discontinued 
when the legal reserve equals 50% of the paid up share capital of the respective individual entities. This 
reserve is non-distributable except in certain circumstances as mentioned in the above- mentioned law. 
 

Further, in accordance with the Articles of Association of certain entities within the Group, 10% of the 
profit for the year is required to be transferred to a general reserve. However, as per the Articles of 
Association of these entities, the transfer may be discontinued upon a resolution passed at the Ordinary 
General Meeting if proposed by the Board of Directors. 
 

Accordingly, the companies within the Group, where applicable, have transferred amounts to legal and 
general reserve.
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30 Revaluation reserve 
 
In prior years, a plot of land was granted to the Company by the Government of Dubai (refer note 12(c)) 
which was recorded as property, plant and equipment at a nominal value. Upon construction of an office 
cum residential building in 2001 on the granted land for the purposes of leasing, the land was transferred 
from property, plant and equipment to investment properties at fair value in prior years. The resulting 
gain on fair valuation of AED 20 million was credited to a non-distributable revaluation reserve at the 
time of transfer. 
 

As explained in note 3, upon change in accounting policy for measurement of land classified under 
property, plant and equipment, an amount of AED 22 million has been transferred to retained earnings. 
 

31 Fair value reserve 
 
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of investments classified as 
fair value through other comprehensive income (refer note 13). 
 

32 Proposed dividend 
 
For the year 2019, the Board of Directors have proposed a cash dividend of 10% (AED 0.10 per share) 
to the shareholders of the Company. 
 
At the Annual General Meeting held on 17 April 2019, the shareholders approved a 10% cash dividend 
(AED 0.10 per share) proposed by the Board of Directors. The dividend amounting to AED 425.2 million 
was paid during the current year. 
 
33 Proposed directors’ fee 
 
Proposed directors’ fees amounting to AED 10.5 million (2018: AED 10.5 million), represents 
compensation for professional services rendered by the Directors. 
 
34 Basic and diluted earnings per share 
 

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to Owners of 
the Company and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding calculated as follows: 
 

 2019  2018 
    
Profit attributable to Owners of the Company (AED ‘000) 657,419  651,431 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (‘000s) 4,252,018  4,252,018 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 0.15  0.15 

 
There is no significant impact on earnings per share on adoption of new accounting standards in the 
current year. 
 

35 Commitments 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Capital commitments – contracted and committed 1,169,658  1,634,381 
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35 Commitments (continued) 
 

Capital commitments mainly includes the following: 
 

-   value of construction contracts awarded to contractors for real estate projects under development. 
 

-   DIPDC has signed an agreement with RTA to share in the cost of infrastructure and development 
works of the adjoining areas. Total outstanding commitment as at 31 December 2019 amounts to AED 
276.5 million (2018: AED 305.5 million) which will be invoiced and paid until 2029, in semi-annual 
instalments of AED 14.5 million each. 
 
36 Contingent liabilities 
 
The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of letters of guarantee and letters of credit amounting to 
AED 210.6 million (2018: AED 277.3 million) as at 31 December 2019. 
 
37 Lease rentals 
 
Leases as lessor 
 
The Group leases out its investment properties under operating lease. The minimum lease payments 
receivable under non-cancellable leases are as follows: 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Less than one year 556,845  499,584 
Between one to five years 2,086,301  2,029,426 
More than five years 5,071,545  5,152,115 
 7,714,691  7,681,125 

 
38 Related party transactions 
 

The Group, in the normal course of business, carries out transactions with other business enterprises 
that fall within the definition of related parties contained in International Accounting Standard 24. 
Related party transactions are entered at mutually agreed terms. 
 
The aggregate value of significant transactions with related parties during the year was as follows: 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Land and other lease charges -  1,382 
 
Compensation to key management personnel, including Directors’ fees is as follows: 
 
Short-term benefits (including proposed Directors’ fees) 27,519  28,525 
Post-employment benefits 468  462 

 
39 Non-controlling interests 
 
The Group does not have any individually material non-controlling interests in any of its subsidiaries as 
at 31 December 2019. 
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40 Investment in subsidiaries 
 
(a) The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 December 2019: 
 
Entity Incorporated in  Ownership % 
Dubai Investments Park Development Co. LLC UAE  100 
Dubai Investment Real Estate Company LLC UAE  100 
Emirates District Cooling LLC (Emicool) UAE  100 
Al Taif Investment Company LLC UAE  60 
Dubai Investments Industries LLC      UAE  100 
Glass LLC UAE  100 
Masharie LLC UAE  75.63 
Dubai Investments International Limited UAE  100 
Anchor Mozna Real Estate LLC UAE  100 
Al Mal Capital PSC UAE  66.61 
Properties Investment LLC UAE  70 

 
(i) The following are investments in subsidiaries held by Dubai Investment Real Estate Company 

LLC as at 31 December 2019: 
  

Al Mujamma Real Estate LLC UAE  100 
Anchor Ritaj Real Estate One Person Company LLC UAE  100 
Anchor Nahda One Real Estate One Person Company LLC UAE  100 
Anchor Kawther Real Estate One Person Company LLC UAE  100 

 
(ii)   The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by Dubai Investments Industries LLC 

as at 31 December 2019: 
 
Emirates Building Systems Company LLC UAE  100 
The Edible Oil Company (Dubai) LLC UAE  100 
Globalpharma LLC* UAE  100 
Dubai Cranes and Technical Services LLC UAE  80 
Emirates Extruded Polystyrene LLC UAE  51 
Techsource LLC UAE  100 
DIID Management DMCC UAE  90 
University of Balamand Dubai (Branch) UAE  100 

 
(iii) The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by Glass LLC as at 31 December 2019: 

 
Emirates Glass LLC UAE  100 
Lumi Glass Industries LLC (refer note (c) below) UAE  100 
Emirates Float Glass LLC UAE  100 
Saudi American Glass Company Limited           KSA  100 
Emirates Insolaire LLC     UAE  51 

 
* Became subsidiary during the current year 
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40 Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 
(iv) The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by Masharie LLC as at 31 December 2019: 
 
Emirates Extrusion Factory LLC             UAE  100 
White Aluminum Extrusion LLC UAE  51 
Folcra Beach Industrial Co LLC      UAE  80 
Gulf Dynamic Services LLC             UAE  70 
Labtech Interiors LLC             UAE  70 
Gulf Dynamic Switchgears Company LLC             UAE  100 
Gulf Metal Craft LLC             UAE  100 
Technological Laboratory Furniture - Manufacturers    
(Labtech) LLC UAE  70 
Lite Tech Industries LLC UAE  54 
 
(v) The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by Al Mal Capital PSC as at 31 December 

2019: 
 
Al Mal Real Estate Fund UAE  64 
AMC Venture Two Ltd Cayman Islands  100 
AMC Venture SPC Cayman Islands  100 
AMC Venture One Ltd Cayman Islands  100 
Al Mal Direct Equity 1 Ltd. UAE  100 
Al Mal Capital (Mauritius) Ltd. Mauritius  100 
Blue Line India Opportunities  Mauritius  100 
Pearl India Opportunities  Mauritius  100 
Saqer Investments Limited Cayman Islands  100 
Al Mal Fund Company BSC Bahrain 

 
99 

 
 
(vi) The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by Emirates District Cooling LLC as at 31 

December 2019: 
 
Aquacool Metering LLC (see note (c) below) UAE  100 
Emicool Plus Cooling Co. LLC UAE  100 
Emicool Global FZ LLC  UAE  100 
Emicool Central Cooling LLC UAE  100 
Emicool North District Cooling LLC UAE  100 
Reaaia Building Maintenance LLC UAE  60 
Emirates Integrated Cooling Services LLC* UAE  51 

 
* Became subsidiary during the current year 
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40 Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary 
 

With effect from 7 March 2019, the Group acquired the additional 66% shares in its existing associate 
entity, Globalpharma Co. LLC (“Globalpharma”). Upon acquisition of the additional interest, 
Globalpharma has become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. Accordingly, the investment in the 
equity accounted investee has been derecognized and the entity has been consolidated on a line by line 
basis effective from the date of acquisition.  
 
The following table summarizes the recognized amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 
the date of acquisition: 
 

% interest acquired 66% 
Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired: AED'000 
  
Non-current assets (excluding intangible assets) 60,444 
Intangible assets (product registration, licence etc) 213,467 
Current assets (excluding cash and bank balances) 60,430 
Cash in hand and at bank 32,322 
Total assets 366,663 
  
Non-current liabilities (14,464) 
Current liabilities (45,937) 
Total liabilities (60,401) 
Total identifiable net assets acquired 306,262 
  
  
Purchase consideration – (A) 147,789 
Fair value of previously held equity interest 106,149 
Total consideration 253,938 
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (306,262) 
Bargain purchase gain (52,324) 
  
Gain on fair valuation of existing interest in Globalpharma  
Fair value of existing 34% interest in Globalpharma at 7 March 2019 106,149 
Less: carrying amount of interest in Globalpharma at 7 March 2019 (94,643) 
Gain on fair valuation of existing interest prior to acquisition of controlling  

stake 11,506 
  
Cash acquired (B) 32,322 
  
Net cash outflow (A) – (B) (115,467) 
 
The Group engaged an independent valuer to perform the fair valuation of net assets acquired, for the 
above acquisitions. A combination of valuation techniques depending upon the nature of the asset were 
used for measuring the fair values of significant assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These included: 
depreciated replacement costs, discounted cash flows, income capitalization and comparable market 
value, whichever was most relevant. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group acquired the additional 50% shares in its existing 
joint venture entity, Emirates District Cooling LLC, which gave rise to a gain on fair valuation of its 
existing interest prior to acquisition of AED 229 million and a bargain purchase gain of AED 104 
million. 
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40 Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 
(c) Acquisition of non-controlling interests 
 
During the current year, the Group acquired additional 40% and 24.3% equity interest in its existing 
subsidiaries Aquacool Metering LLC and Lumiglass LLC respectively. Upon acquisition, these 
companies have become 100% subsidiaries of the Group. 
 
41 Disposal of a joint venture 
 

During the previous year, the Group disposed its 50% shareholding in jointly controlled entity, Dubai 
International Driving Centre LLC. The disposal resulted in a gain of AED 21.1 million which was 
included under gain on sale of investments in the previous year. 
 
42 Accounting estimates and judgments 
 
Management has reviewed the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting 
policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. The following are the critical 
accounting estimates and judgment used by management in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements: 
 
(a) Valuation of investment properties 
 
The Group fair values its investment properties. Independent third party valuers, who have the 
appropriate recognized professional qualification value majority of the properties annually. note 12 
contains information about the valuation methodology considered by the third party valuers. 
 

(b) Net Realisable Value (“NRV”) assessment of property under development / held for sale 
 
The Group reviews its inventories to assess any loss on account of diminution in the value of real estate 
inventories on a regular basis i.e. NRV assessment. A significant portion of the Group’s inventories 
comprise property under development for sale. For certain properties under development / held for sale, 
NRV has been estimated with assistance from independent third party valuers, who have the appropriate 
recognised professional qualification. There are significant estimates and judgements involved 
including the Group’s estimate of the sale price and construction cost for properties under development, 
which due to inherent nature of estimates, cannot be determined with precision. 
 
(c) Impairment of other non-current assets 
 

Other non-current assets such as property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets and investments 
in equity accounted investees are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. 
Testing for impairment of these assets requires management to estimate the recoverable amount of the 
cash generating unit. 
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42 Accounting estimates and judgments (continued)(d)Determining fair values of 
financial investments 

  
The determination of fair value for financial investments for which there is no observable market price 
requires the use of valuation techniques as described in note 13. For financial investments that trade 
infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees 
of judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions 
and other risks affecting the specific instrument. 
 
(e) Accounting for a business combination 
 
With effect from 7 March 2019, the Group acquired the additional 66% shares in its existing associate 
entity, Globalpharma Co. LLC (“Globalpharma”).  The Group engaged an external independent valuer 
to perform the purchase price allocation exercise, the fair valuation of acquired assets and liabilities, 
and the identification and valuation of intangible assets acquired in the business. This valuation therefore 
required significant judgement and use of assumptions in performing this exercise. note 40 contains 
information about the valuation methodology considered by the third party valuers. 

(f) Determination of incremental borrowing rate 

The Group uses the incremental borrowing rate for determination of its lease liability and right of use 
of asset. The Group has used the discount rate based on the rates at which a similar borrowing could be 
obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.  

(g) Determining the lease term 

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to continue and/or terminate lease. Extension options (or periods after termination 
options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not 
terminated). The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances 
occurs which affects this assessment and that is within the control of the Group as a lessee. 
 
43 Financial instruments 
 
Credit risk 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Finance lease receivable 858  1,577 
Trade receivables (net) 1,434,436  1,205,353 
Cash and cash equivalents 757,062  798,069 
Due from related parties and other receivables 546,739  474,580 
Investments in bonds, sukuks and structured funds 502,471  541,567 
Short-term deposits with bank 90,924  134,423 
Rent receivable 46,195  43,958 
Carrying amount 3,378,685  3,199,527 
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43 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Credit risk (continued) 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and finance lease receivables at the 
reporting date by geographic region was: 

 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Domestic 1,239,576  1,062,075 
Other GCC countries 121,007  106,830 
Other regions 75,676  39,412 
 1,436,259  1,208,317 

 
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach on trade receivables, retention receivables, rent 
receivables, due from related parties and due from customers for contract work to measure the expected 
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. 
 
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on the 
historical credit losses experienced. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the 
receivables. The Group has identified the gross domestic product of the countries in which it sells its 
goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based 
on expected changes in these factors. 
 
Based on existing credit risk management practices, the default definition has been determined which 
aptly captures the gradual deterioration of the receivables under consideration. 
  
The collateral get factored through loss given default estimates and hence are used to adjust exposure 
while computing expected credit loss. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing with 
counterparties that have credible market reputation. The Group’s management does not expect any 
significant counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 
 

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as 
follows: 
 

 Total  Total 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
1 January: Opening impairment provision under IAS 39 -  125,331 
Impact on adoption of adoption of IFRS 9 -  30,794 
Opening impairment provision as at 1 January under IFRS 9 165,299  156,125 
Impairment loss recognized  6,519  9,174 
31 December - closing impairment  
provision 

 
171,818 

 
165,299 

 
 

Further, an impairment provision of AED 7.94 million is recognised on due from customers for contract 
work at 31 December 2019 (2018: AED 22.67 million). 
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43 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Credit risk (continued) 

 
The impairment provision as at 31 December 2019 was determined for the trade receivables within the 
real estate business, as follows, based on management assessment of default period being 180 days from 
the date the counter party fails to make contractual payment: 
 

AED’ 000 
31 December 2019 

Current 
More than 180 

days overdue 
More than 365 

days overdue Total 
Expected loss rate 1% 1% 15%  
Gross carrying 
amount – trade 
receivables 226,336 260,350 318,729 805,415 
Loss allowance 1,358 1,562 47,873 50,793 

 
31 December 2018 

Current 
More than 180 

days overdue 
More than 365 

days overdue Total 
Expected loss rate 1% 1% 16%  
Gross carrying 
amount – trade 
receivables 250,780 145,532 266,878 663,190 
Loss allowance 1,632 947 43,490 46,069 

 
In addition to above loss allowance, the Group has recognised specific impairment provision of  
AED 8.7 million (2018: AED 8.7 million). 
 
The impairment provision as at 31 December 2019 was determined for the trade receivables within the 
manufacturing and services business, as follows, based on management assessment of default period 
being 90 days from the date the counter party fails to make contractual payment: 
 

AED’ 000 

31 December 2019 Current 
More than 90 
days overdue 

More than 180 
days overdue Total 

Expected loss rate 4% 11% 14%  
Gross carrying 
amount – trade 
receivables 341,877 175,574 146,185 663,636 
Loss allowance 12,034  18,453  20,095   50,582  

 

31 December 2018 Current 
More than 90 
days overdue 

More than 180 
days overdue Total 

Expected loss rate 5% 12% 15%  
Gross carrying 
amount – trade 
receivables 311,562 117,690 193,714 622,966 
Loss allowance  15,431   13,592   28,532   57,555  

 
In addition to above loss allowance, the Group has recognised specific impairment provision of  
AED 16.43 million (2018: AED 20.8 million). 
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43 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Credit risk (continued) 
 
The impairment provision as at 31 December 2019 was determined for the contract assets within the 
contracting business, as follows, based on management assessment of default period being 365 days 
from the date the counter party fails to make contractual payment: 
 

AED’000 

31 December 2019 Current 
Up to 365 days 

overdue 
More than 365 

days overdue Total 
Expected loss rate 5% 11% 74%  
Gross carrying 
amount – trade 
receivables  11,827  83,762 41,614 137,203 
Loss allowance 590 9,592 30,929 41,111 

 

31 December 2018 Current 
Upto 365 days 

overdue 
More than 365 

days overdue Total 
Expected loss rate 6% 10% 66%  
Gross carrying 
amount – trade 
receivables  29,462  18,233 36,801 84,496 
Loss allowance 1,883 1,864 24,206 27,953 

 
In addition to above loss allowance, the Group has recognised specific impairment provision of  
AED 4.2 million (2018: AED 4.2 million). 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, short term deposits and due from related parties are also subject to the 
impairment requirements of IFRS 9. For cash and cash equivalents and short term deposits the 
probability of default is derived from benchmarking and default rate studies conducted by external 
rating agencies. Loss given default estimate is taken from Basel guidelines. The identified impairment 
loss on cash and cash equivalents, short term deposits and due from related parties were insignificant. 
 
There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents, as the 
Group holds cash accounts in a number of diversified financial institutions. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest 
payments.
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43 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

 Carrying amount  
Contractual cash 

flows  
Within 1 

year  1-2 years  2-3 years  
More than 

3 years 
 AED‘000  AED‘000  AED‘000  AED‘000  AED‘000  AED‘000 
31 December 2019            
Non-derivative financial liabilities            
Loans and borrowings  6,225,615  (7,077,965)  (1,749,573)  (843,374)  (1,510,596)  (2,974,422) 
Lease liabilities 272,613  (348,986)  (39,934)  (38,940)  (42,384)  (227,728) 
Trade and other payables 1,674,547  (1,674,547)  (1,674,547)  -  -  - 
Other long term liabilities 90,956  (123,590)  (6,139)  (25,140)  (10,394)  (81,917) 
 8,263,731  (9,225,088)  (3,470,193)  (907,454)  (1,563,374)  (3,284,067) 
            
31 December 2018            
Non-derivative financial liabilities            
Loans and borrowings (including sukuk  
notes) 5,333,506  (5,911,954)  (2,749,255)  (394,371)  (389,732)  (2,378,595) 

Trade and other payables 1,472,634  (1,472,634)  (1,472,634)  -  -  - 
Other long term liabilities 44,785  (44,785)  (14,516)  (1,133)  (1,133)  (28,004) 
 6,850,925  (7,429,373)  (4,236,405)  (395,504)  (390,865)  (2,406,599) 
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43 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Market risk 
 
Currency risk 
 
 2019  2018 
 Euro’000  Euro’000 
    
Trade and other receivables 3,003  951 
Investments 18,721  16,312 
Cash at bank 201  1,125 
Trade and other payables (4,216)  (4,669) 
Loans and borrowings (22,534)  (17,224) 
Others (15)  4,499 
Gross exposure (4,840)  994 
    
Net exposure (4,840)  994 
 
The following exchange rates were applied during the year: 
 
 Average rate  Spot rate 
 2019  2018  2019  2018 
 AED  AED  AED  AED 
        
Euro 4.16  4.30  4.12  4.20 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
A limited fluctuation of AED against Euro at 31 December would not have any significant impact on 
profit or loss. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest bearing assets and liabilities. The Group 
manages its exposure arising due to fluctuations in interest rates by the use of derivative instruments 
when appropriate. 
 
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was: 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Fixed rate instruments    
Financial assets 788,381  891,102 
Financial liabilities (292,409)  (1,144,044) 
    
Variable rate instruments    
Financial assets 161,804  155,339 
Financial liabilities (6,226,595)  (4,189,462) 
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43 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 
 
The Group accounts for certain fixed rate financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The Group 
does not designate derivatives as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model. 
 
An increase of 100 basis points (“bps”) in interest rates at the reporting date would have decreased profit 
by AED 9.1 million (2018: AED 9.5 million).  A corresponding decrease of 100 bps in interest rate at 
the reporting date would have caused increase in profit by the same amount. This analysis assumes that 
all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. 
 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
 
A change of 100 basis points (“bp”) in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/ 
(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, 
in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 
2018. 
 
 Profit or loss 
Effect in AED’000 100 bp  100 bp 
 increase  decrease 
    
31 December 2019 (60,648)  60,648 
31 December 2018 (40,341)  40,341 
 
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized costs 
 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized costs approximate its carrying 
value at 31 December 2019.  
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44 Segment reporting 
 

The Group has broadly three reportable segments as discussed below, which are the Group’s strategic 
business units. The strategic business units operate in different sectors and are managed separately 
because they require different strategies. The following summary describes the operation in each of the 
Group’s reportable segments: 

 
Property development of real estate for sale and leasing 

Manufacturing, 
contracting and services 

manufacture and sale of materials used in construction projects, executing 
construction contracts, production of raw and architectural glass, cooling 
services, production, aluminium extruded products, laboratory furniture, 
healthcare and education 
 

Investments strategic minority investments in associates, investment banking, asset 
management and financial investments 

 
Information regarding the operations of each segment is included hereafter. Performance is measured 
based on segment revenue and profit as management believes that profit is the most relevant factor in 
evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries. 
There are a few transactions between the segments and such transaction are carried out on arm’s length 
basis and are eliminated on consolidation. 
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44 Segment reporting (continued) 
 

Information about reportable segments 
 

Business Segments         Property    Investments  
Manufacturing 

contracting and services   Total 
 2019  2018  2019  2018  2019  2018  2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
                

Sales of goods and services (at a point of 
time)  42,016  39,795  15,926  14,061  1,418,171  1,375,095  1,476,113  1,428,951 

Contract revenue (over time) -  -  -  -  190,043  305,186  190,043  305,186 

Sales of properties (over time) 40,140  89,596  -  -  -  -  40,140  89,596 

Rental income 912,286  926,654  -    -    912,286  926,654 
Gain on fair valuation of investment 

properties 134,414  101,897  -    -  -  134,414  101,897 

Gain/(loss) on fair valuation of investments     67,090  (153,306)  -    67,090  (153,306) 
Gain on fair valuation of existing interest 

prior to acquisition of controlling interest  -  -  11,506  228,916  -  -  11,506  228,916 

Bargain purchase gain -  -  52,324  104,263  -  -  52,324  104,263 

Others 14,656  634  (18,553)  13,566  -  -  (3,897)  14,200 

Total income 1,143,512  1,158,576  128,293  207,500  1,608,214  1,680,281  2,880,019  3,046,357 
                

Direct operating costs (429,682)  (472,677)  -  -  (1,300,901)        (1,439,230)  (1,730,583)  (1,911,907) 

Administrative and general expenses (78,620)  (67,098)  (100,638)  (89,993)  (235,290)           (297,304)  (414,548)  (454,395) 

Finance expenses (133,039)  (28,405)  (44,151)  (40,883)  (102,195)           (72,767)  (279,385)  (142,055) 

Finance income and other income 16,672  30,621  38,927  43,184  36,808                18,227   92,407  92,032 
Impairment of investment in equity 

accounted investee’ -  -  -  (27,990)  -  -  -  (27,990) 
Net impairment losses on financial and 
contract assets (4,638)  (877)  -  -  (9,822)  (30,966)  (14,460)  (31,843) 

Profit/(loss) for the year 514,205  620,140  22,431  91,818  (3,186)            (141,759)  533,450  570,199 
                

Profit/(loss) attributable to:                

Owners of the Company 612,863  632,078  22,236  104,530  22,320             (85,177)  657,419  651,431 

Non – controlling interests (98,658)  (11,938)  195  (12,712)  (25,506)             (56,582)  (123,969)  (81,232) 

Profit/(loss) for the year 514,205  620,140  22,431  91,818  (3,186)            (141,759)  533,450  570,199 
                

Assets 13,219,867  12,306,030  2,431,657  2,562,713  5,305,681           4,685,454   20,957,205  19,554,197 

Liabilities 4,668,489  3,023,584  1,182,598  1,531,711  2,900,013           2,713,597   8,751,100  7,268,892 

The impact on adoption of IFRS 16 on the segment assets and segment liabilities relating to property is AED 139 million and AED 146 million respectively; relating to manufacturing, contracting and services is AED 129.5 million and AED 
125.2 million respectively; and investments is AED 1.1 million and AED 1.4 million respectively. Group’s revenue is mainly earned from transactions carried out in UAE and other GCC countries. 
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45 Significant accounting policies 
 
The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements except as mentioned in note 3: 
 
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
 
45.1 Basis of consolidation 
 
(a) Business combinations 
 
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the control is 
transferred to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair 
value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. 
 
The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 
 
- the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 
- the recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 
- if the business combination has been achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest 

in the acquiree, less 
- the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed. Any gain on bargain purchase is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Transaction costs are expensed as incurred except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities. 
 
Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. 
 
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts generally are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If an obligation to pay 
contingent consideration that meets the definition of financial instrument is classified as an equity, then 
it is not re- measured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent 
consideration is measured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value 
of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss. 
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45 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
45.1 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 
(b) Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 
control ceases. 
 
(c) Non-controlling interests 
 
Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets at the acquisition date. 
 
Changes in Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions. 
 
(d) Loss of control 
 
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain 
or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair 
value when the control is lost. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in “other comprehensive 
income” in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in “other comprehensive 
income” are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
(e) Interests in equity-accounted investees 
 
The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and joint ventures. 
 
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint 
control, over the financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group 
has joint control, whereby, the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights 
to its assets and obligations for its liabilities. 
 
Interests in associates and the joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially 
recognized at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated 
financial statements include the Group’s share of profit or loss and OCI of equity-accounted investees, 
until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases. 
 
Where the Group’s share of losses in equity-accounted investees equals or exceeds its interest in the 
equity-accounted investees, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its equity-accounted investees are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. 
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45 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
45.1 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 
(f) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra- 
group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity accounted 
investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. 
Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there 
is no evidence of impairment. 
 
45.2 Revenue 
 
The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on a five step model as set out in 
IFRS 15: 
 

Step 1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two 
or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for 
every contract that must be met. 

Step 2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise 
in a contract with a customer to transfer a good or service to the customer. 

Step 3. Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which 
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a 
customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract 
that has more than one performance obligation, the Group will allocate the transaction price 
to each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to 
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance 
obligation. 

Step 5.   Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.  
 
 

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following 
criteria is met: 
 
1. The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 

performance as the Group performs; or 
2. The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is 

created or enhanced; or 
3. The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the entity 

has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 
 

For performance obligations where one of the above conditions are not met, revenue is recognised at 
the point in time at which the performance obligation is satisfied. 
 

When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by delivering the promised goods or services it 
creates a contract asset based on the amount of consideration earned by the performance. Where the 
amount of consideration received from a customer exceeds the amount of revenue recognised this gives 
rise to a contract liability. 
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45 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
45.2 Revenue (continued) 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account 
contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty. The Group assesses its revenue 
arrangements against specific criteria to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has 
concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements.  
 
Revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured 
reliably.  
 
The sales commission paid where applicable, is recognised as prepaid commission and is amortised to 
the statement of comprehensive income over time upon fulfilment of the related performance obligation. 
 
(a) Revenue from sale of goods 
 
Revenue from sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. No element of 
financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of 30-60 days, which is consistent 
with market practice. A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time 
that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment 
is due. 
 
(b) Revenue from sale of properties 

 
The performance obligation with regards to sale of properties is satisfied over time, as and when 
construction progresses.  
 
The revenue from sale of properties is a multiple of management’s total estimated cost for the 
construction and a percentage of completion confirmed by external consultant for each individual 
project. 
 
Management estimates the cost to complete for construction of the project in order to determine the cost 
attributable to revenue being recognised. These estimates include the cost of constructing property, 
potential claims by contractors and the cost of meeting other contractual obligations to the customers. 
 
Infrastructure cost allocated to each project is released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss, as 
cost of properties sold within ‘cost of sales’, based on the percentage of construction completed 
confirmed by external consultants for each project and percentage of infrastructure cost incurred at each 
period end to the total estimated infrastructure cost. 
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45 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
45.2 Revenue (continued) 
 
(c) Revenue from services rendered 
 
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the accounting period in which control of the services 
are passed to the customer, which is when the service is rendered. For certain service contracts, revenue 
is recognised based on the actual service provided during the reporting period as a proportion of the 
total services to be provided because the customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. 
 
For supply of chilled water, revenue comprises of available capacity and variable output provided to 
customer and is recognised when services are provided. Connection fee is recognised on straight line 
basis over the term of respective customer contract, unless it represents a separately unidentifiable 
service and satisfies the criteria for upfront recognition in statement of profit or loss. 
 
(d) Rental income 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. When the 
Group provides incentives to its tenants, the cost of the incentives is recognised over the lease term, on 
a straight-line basis, as a reduction of rental income. 
 
(e) Contract revenue 
 
Contract revenue from construction of building facades, installation and erection of heavy machineries 
and steel fabrication is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. Revenue is 
recognised over time based on the cost-to cost method. The related costs are recognised in profit or loss 
when they are incurred. Advances received are included in contract liabilities. 
 
(f) Dividend income 
 
Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established. 
 
45.3 Government grant 
 
Government grant is initially recognized at fair value when there is a reasonable assurance that:  
 
(a)  the Group will comply with the conditions associated to them; and 
(b)  the grants will be received. 
 
Government grant that compensates the Group for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss on 
a systematic basis over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which they are 
intended to compensate. An unconditional government grant in the form of non-depreciable, non-
monetary assets is recognized in profit or loss when the grant becomes receivable. 
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45 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
45.4 Finance income and expense 
 
The Group's finance income and expense comprises of the following: 
 

- interest income; 
- unwinding of discount on financial assets measured at amortized cost; 
- foreign exchange gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities; 
- interest expenses; 
- unwinding of discount on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost; 
- change in fair value of derivative financial instruments; and 
- bank charges 
 

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets are recognized as expense in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
However, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. The capitalization of borrowing costs 
commences from the date of incurring of expenditure relating to the qualifying asset and ceases when 
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete.  
Borrowing costs relating to real estate development for sale is accounted for as a finance cost in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Borrowing costs relating to the period after 
acquisition, construction or production are expensed. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended 
during the extended period in which the active development of a qualifying asset has ceased. 
 

Foreign currency gain or losses are represented on a net basis either as finance income or finance 
expense depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position. 
 

45.5 Property, plant and equipment 
 

(a) Recognition and measurement 
 
The Group’s property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Land is not depreciated. 
 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the assets to a working condition for its intended use and capitalized borrowing costs. 
 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference 
between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognized in profit or 
loss.  
 
(b) Reclassification to investment property 
 

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is re-
measured to fair value and reclassified as investment property. Any gain arising on re-measurement is 
recognized in profit or loss to the extent the gain reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific 
property. Any loss is recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in the revaluation reserve 
in equity to the extent that an amount had previously been included in the comprehensive income 
relating to the specific property, with any remaining loss recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
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45 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
45.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
(c) Subsequent costs 
 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group. The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment is expensed as incurred. 
 

(d) Depreciation 
 

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount 
substituted for cost, less its residual value. Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of each component, since this mostly reflects the expected pattern 
of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased assets are depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will 
obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  
Land is not depreciated. 
 

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use, i.e. when it is in the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years of significant items of property, plant 
and equipment are as follows: 
 

  Years 
Buildings   15-33 
Plant and equipments   3-50 
Office equipment and furniture    3-10 
Motor vehicles    3- 7 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting period and 
adjusted if appropriate. 
 
(e) Leased assets 
 
Leases in terms of which the Group assumes all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. Assets acquired by way of finance lease is stated at an amount equal to the lesser of the 
asset’s fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payment at inception of the lease, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (if any). 
 
 

45.6 Intangible assets 
 

(a) Subsequent measurement 
 

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
 

(b) Other intangible assets 
 

Other intangible assets including technical know-how, product registration certificates, licenses and 
patents and trademarks and customer contracts that have finite useful lives are stated at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. These are amortized as per 
management’s estimate of their useful life, which is between 5 to 39 years. 
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45.6 Intangible assets (continued) 
 
(c) Subsequent expenditure 
 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in 
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated 
goodwill and brands, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
if appropriate. 
 
45.7 Investment properties 
 
Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for 
both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or 
services or for administration purposes. Where the Group provides ancillary services to the co-
occupants of a property, it treats such a property as investment property if the services are a relatively 
insignificant component in the arrangement as a whole. 
 
An investment property is measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with 
any changes therein are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The 
cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other 
costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended 
use and capitalized borrowing costs. 
 
The fair value adjustments on investment properties are included in profit or loss as investment returns 
in the period in which these gains or losses arise. In determining the carrying amount of investment 
properties, the Group does not double count assets or liabilities that have already been recognized as 
separate assets or liabilities. 
 
When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, its fair 
value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting. 
 
Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net 
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the property) is recognized in profit or loss.  
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45.8 Inventories 
 
Inventories comprise finished goods, raw materials, work-in-progress, spares and properties under 
development/ held for sale. 
 
(a) Finished goods, raw materials, work-in-progress and spares 
 
Inventories are measured at lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of raw materials and spares 
are based on the weighted average cost method and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the 
inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. Finished goods are stated at cost 
of raw material and also include an appropriate proportion of overheads. Work-in-progress is stated at 
cost of raw materials and directly attributable overheads. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less estimated selling expenses. 
 
(b) Properties under development/held for sale 
 
Properties under development/held for sale are classified as inventories and stated at the lower of cost 
and net realizable value. Cost includes the aggregate cost of development and other direct expenses. Net 
realizable value is estimated by the management, taking into account the expected price which can be 
ultimately achieved, based on prevailing market conditions and the anticipated costs to completion. 
 
The amount of any write down of properties under development/held for sale is recognized as an 
expense in the period the write down or loss occurs. Any reversal of write down arising from an increase 
in net realizable value is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the increase occurs. 
 
45.9 Construction work-in-progress 
 
Construction work-in-progress represents the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from 
customers for contract work performed to date. It is measured at contract cost incurred plus profits 
recognized to date less progress billing and less recognized losses. Construction work-in-progress is 
presented as part of other receivables in the statement of financial position for all contracts in which 
costs incurred plus recognized profits exceed progress billings. If progress billings exceed costs incurred 
plus recognized profits, then the difference is presented as part of other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
 
45.10 Financial instruments 
 
(a) Non-derivative financial assets 
 
The Group initially recognizes financial assets on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. If the financial asset is not subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit or loss, the initial measurement includes transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the asset’s acquisition or origination. The Group subsequently measures financial assets 
at either amortized cost or fair value. 
 
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction when substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such 
transferred financial asset that is created or retained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or 
liability.
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45 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
45.10 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(a) Non-derivative financial assets (continued) 
 
(i) Financial assets measured at fair value 
 
A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method and net 
of any impairment loss, if: 
 
- the asset is held within a business model with an objective to hold assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows; and 
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest. 
 
Financial assets measured at amortized cost comprise trade receivables, due from related parties, other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, rent receivables and finance lease receivables. 
 
Financial assets other than those classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost are 
subsequently measured at fair value with all changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. 
 
However, for investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, the Group may elect at 
initial recognition to present gains and losses in other comprehensive income on an instrument by 
instrument basis. For instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, gains 
and losses are never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairments are recognized in profit or loss. 
Dividends earned from such investments are recognized in profit or loss unless the dividends clearly 
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and fixed deposits (with maturity of less 
than three months). Bank overdrafts, trust receipts and bills discounted that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and 
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows. 
 
(b) Non-derivative financial liabilities 
 
The Group initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they 
originated. All other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated as fair value through profit or 
loss) are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual 
obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, sukuk notes and trade and other 
payables. Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. 
 



Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2019 (continued) 
 

(74) 

45 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
45.11 Foreign currency 
 

(a) Foreign currency transactions 
 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities 
at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that 
date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in 
the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during 
the year, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the 
reporting year. 
 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value 
are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was 
determined. Non- monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on 
retranslation are recognized in profit or loss. 
 

(b) Foreign operations 
 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising 
on acquisition, are translated to AED at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and 
expenses of foreign operations are translated to AED at the average exchange rates for current year. 
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in other comprehensive income and 
presented in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of 
such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation 
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of gain or loss on disposal. 
When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation 
while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to the non-
controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in joint venture or an associate 
that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant influence, the relevant proportion of the 
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
45.12 Trade payables and provisions 
 

Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. 
  

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are not recognised 
for future operating losses.   
  
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
risks specific to the obligation. Increases in provisions due to the passage of time are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income within ‘finance costs’. 
  
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  
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45 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

45.13 Impairment 
 

(a) Non-derivative financial assets 
 

A financial asset not carried at fair value is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there 
is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates 
that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a 
negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 
 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, 
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, 
indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, economic conditions that correlated with 
defaults, adverse changes in the payment status of borrower or issuer, the disappearance of an active 
market for a security, or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in expected cash 
flows for a group of financial assets. 
 

The Group considers evidence of impairment for these assets at both an individual asset and a collective 
level. All individually significant assets are individually assessed for specific impairment. Those found 
individually not to be impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred 
but not yet individually identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed 
for impairment by grouping together receivables with similar risk characteristics. 
 

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical information on the timing of recoveries 
and the amount of loss incurred and makes an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are 
such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends. 
 

An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses 
are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account. When the Group considers that 
there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the related amount are written off. When a 
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss. 
 

(b) Equity-accounted investees 
 

An impairment loss in respect of an equity accounted investee is measured by comparing the 
recoverable amount of the investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognized in 
profit or loss, and is reversed if there has been a favorable change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. 
 

(c) Non- financial assets 
 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets 
(other than investment properties, development properties and inventories) to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. 
 

For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not available for use are 
tested annually for impairment. 
 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGU’s. 
Goodwill arising from business combination is allocated to CGU or group of CGU’s that are expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 
 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows discounted to their present value using 
a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset or CGU. 
 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit (CGU) 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  
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45 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
45.13 Impairment (continued) 
 
(d) Non- financial assets (continued) 
 
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in 
the CGU on a pro-rata basis. 
 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. Impairment losses, other than in respect of 
goodwill is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss 
had been recognized. 
 

45.14 Staff terminal benefits 
 
A provision is made, using actuarial techniques, for the end service benefits due to employees in 
accordance with the UAE Labour Law for their years of service up to balance sheet date.  
 

Furthermore, in accordance with Federal Labour Law No.7 of 1999 for pension and social security, 
employers are required to contribute 12.5% of the ‘contribution calculated on salary’ of those employees 
who are UAE nationals. These employees are also required to contribute 5% of the ‘contribution 
calculated on salary’ to the scheme. The Group’s contribution is recognized as an expense in profit or 
loss as incurred. The employees and employers’ contribution, to the extent remaining unpaid at the 
reporting date, has been shown under other liabilities. 
 

45.15 Leases 
 
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, 
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of 
an identified asset, the Group assesses whether: 
 
• the contract involved the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or 

implicitly, and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a 
physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not 
identified; 
 

• the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 
throughout the period of use; and 

 
• the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Group has the right when it has the 

decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset 
is used. In rare cases where all the decisions about how and for what purpose the asset is used 
are predetermined, the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset if either: 
 

- the Group has the right to operate the asset; or 
- the Group designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be 

used. 
At the inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.  
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45.15 Leases (continued) 
 
As a lessee 
 
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 
 
The right-to-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the 
lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those 
of property and equipment. In addition, right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, 
if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability. 
 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental 
borrowing rate as the discounted rate, which is determined to be x% per annum. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 
 
- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate as at the commencement date; amounts expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee; and 

- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 
payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably 
certain not to terminate early. 

 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a 
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee 
or if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or terminate 
option. 
 

Lease liability is subsequently increased by the finance costs on the lease liability and decreased by 
lease payments made. 
 

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance costs is charged to 
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period.  
 

When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has 
been reduced to zero. 
 

The Group presents right-to-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘right-
of-use’. 
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45.15 Leases (continued) 
 

The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some lease contracts in which it is a 
lessee that include renewal and termination options (note 4). The assessment of whether the Group is 
reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts lease term, which significantly affects the amount 
of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognized. 
 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of 
vehicle that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets, including office 
equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
 

Variable lease payments 
 

The Group leases land from the Government of Dubai for a period of 99 years. The Group was 
exempted to pay the lease rentals for the first ten years and thereafter, starting 1 February 2009, rental 
payments that are based on variable payment terms being 20% of the share of realised profit is payable 
to the Government of Dubai. As the lease payments are variable, no lease liability has been recognised 
for this lease. The Group has recognized the right-of-use asset as an investment property and is being 
carried at fair value in line with its accounting policy. 

As a lessor 
 

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at the lease commencement whether each lease is a 
finance lease or an operating lease. To classify each lease the Group makes an overall assessment of 
whether the lease transfer to the lessee substantially all of the risk and rewards of ownership incidental 
to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance leases; if not, then it 
is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether 
the lease is for major part of the economic life of the asset. 

When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the asset is included in the balance sheet based on 
the nature of the asset.  Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis. 
 

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term as part of ‘Revenue’. 
 

45.16 Earnings per share 
 

The Group presents basic earnings per share (EPS) data for its shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding during the year. Weighted average number of shares outstanding is retrospectively 
adjusted to include the effect of any increase in the number of shares without a corresponding change 
in resources. 
 

45.17 Segment reporting 
 

Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors (Chief Operating Decision Maker) include 
items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  
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